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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MOTION COURT DATES FOR JUDGE THOMAS P. AGRESTI
ERIE AND PITTSBURGH DIVISION CASES

AUGUST 2022 NOTICE
The following is a list of August 2022, September 2022 and October 2022 motion court dates and 

times to be used for the scheduling of motions pursuant to Local Rule 9013-5(a) before Judge Thomas 
P. Agresti in the Erie and Pittsburgh Divisions of the Court. The use of these dates for scheduling 
motions consistent with the requirements of Local Rule 9013-5(a) and Judge Agresti’s Procedure 
B(1)-(3) summarized below and located on Judge Agresti’s webpage at: www.pawb.uscourts.gov.

The motions will be heard by the Zoom Video Conference Application. When using 
the below self-scheduling dates to schedule a matter please include the following Zoom 
Meeting link in your Notice: https://www.zoomgov.com/j/16021303488, or alternatively, to 
attend and use the following Meeting ID: 160 2130 3488. To join the Zoom hearing please 
initiate and use the link 15 minutes prior to your scheduled hearing time. All Attorneys and 
Parties may only appear via the Zoom Video Conference Application and must comply 
with the Updated Notice of Temporary Modification of Appearance Procedures Before 
Judge Thomas P. Agresti, as updated on July 26, 2022.

Counsel for a moving party shall select one of the following dates and times for matters 
subject to the “self-scheduling” provisions of the Local Bankruptcy Rules and the Judge’s 
procedures, insert same on the notice of hearing for the motion, and serve the notice on all 
respondents, trustee(s) and parties in interest. Where a particular type of motion is listed 
at a designated time, filers shall utilize that time, only, for the indicated motions(s) unless:  
(a) special arrangements have been approved in advance by the Court, or, (b) another motion 
in the same bankruptcy case has already been set for hearing at a different time and the 
moving party chooses to use the same date and time as the previously scheduled matter.

SCHEDULE CHAPTERS 13 & 12 MOTIONS ON:

Wednesday, August 17, 2022
Wednesday, September 14, 2022
Wednesday, October 12, 2022

Select the following times, EXCEPT for the specific matters to be scheduled at 11:30 a.m.:

 9:30 a.m.:	 Open for all Erie & Pittsburgh Ch. 13 matters
10:00 a.m.:	Open for all Erie & Pittsburgh Ch. 13 matters
10:30 a.m.:	Open for all Erie & Pittsburgh Ch. 13 matters
11:00 a.m.: Open for all Erie & Pittsburgh Ch. 13 matters
11:30 a.m.:	Ch. 13 Sale, Financing and Extend/Impose Stay  

& Ch. 12 matters

SCHEDULE CHAPTERS 11 & 7 MOTIONS ON:
Select the following times, EXCEPT for Ch. 7 Motions to Extend/Impose Stay scheduled only at 
11:00 a.m., and, all sale motions only at 11:30 a.m.:

 9:30 a.m.:  	 Open for all Erie & Pittsburgh Ch. 11 matters
10:00 a.m.:	 Open for all Erie & Pittsburgh Ch. 11 matters
10:30 a.m.:	 Open for all Erie & Pittsburgh Ch. 7 matters
11:00 a.m.:	 Open for all Erie & Pittsburgh Ch. 7 matters,
	 including all Ch. 7 Motions to Extend/Impose Stay
11:30 a.m.:	 Ch. 11 and 7 Sale Motions at this time, only

Thursday, August 18, 2022
Thursday, September 8, 2022
Thursday, September 29, 2022
Thursday, October 20, 2022
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ALL OF THE DATES ARE SUBJECT TO REVISION. Please check each month for 
any changes in the dates that have been published previously. THIS SCHEDULE CAN 
BE VIEWED ON PACER (Public Access to Court Electronic Records) and on the Court’s 
Web Site (www.pawb.uscourts.gov).
Michael R. Rhodes
Clerk of Court

Aug. 5

CHANGES  IN  CONTACT  INFORMATION  OF  ECBA  MEMBERS

Denise C. Pekelnicky.........................................................................814-347-5593
DCP Law Office, LLC..............................................................................(f) 814-347-5267
36 West Main St.
North East, PA 16428..................................................................denise@dcplawoffice.com

- 5 -- 4 -

Business Partner



155
ERIE COUNTY LEGAL JOURNAL

Robert Weisenbach v. Project Veritas, James O’Keefe, III, and Richard Alexander Hopkins

ROBERT WEISENBACH 
v.

PROJECT VERITAS, JAMES O’KEEFE, III, 
and RICHARD ALEXANDER HOPKINS

CIVIL PROCEDURE / PLEADINGS / 
PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS / JURISDICTION

	 When preliminary objections raise a question of subject matter jurisdiction, the trial court’s 
function is to determine whether the law will bar recovery due to a lack of subject matter 
jurisdiction.

CIVIL PROCEDURE / PLEADINGS / 
PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS / JURISDICTION

	 A challenge to subject matter jurisdiction is of the sort that cannot be determined from 
facts of record; instead, the party raising the objection bears the burden to demonstrate 
the absence of jurisdiction, and only upon the presentation of evidence supporting the 
jurisdictional challenge does the burden shift to the party asserting jurisdiction. 

JURISDICTION / STATUTORY PROVISIONS
	 The Federal Tort Claims Act, designed primarily to remove the sovereign immunity of 
the United States from suits in tort, gives federal district courts exclusive jurisdiction over 
claims against the United States for injury or loss of property, or personal injury or death 
caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of federal employees acting within the 
scope of their employment.

JURISDICTION / STATUTORY PROVISIONS
	 Under the Westfall Act, which grants federal employees absolute immunity from claims 
arising out of acts they undertake in the course of their official duties, when a federal 
employee is sued for wrongful or negligent conduct, the Attorney General is empowered to 
certify that the employee was acting within the scope of his office or employment when the 
incident occurred, at which time the employee is dismissed from the action, and the United 
States is substituted as defendant in place of the employee.

AGENCY / EMPLOYMENT
	 Individuals act within the scope of their employment when they engage in tasks which are 
clearly incidental to their employer’s business, meaning they are subordinate to or pertinent to 
accomplishing the ultimate objective of their employer, even if those acts are not specifically 
authorized by the employer; however, employees who embark upon personal expeditions to 
accomplish purely personal errands do not act within the scope of their employment, even 
if technically on-duty at the time.

TORTS / DEFAMATION
	 Defamation is a communication which tends to harm an individual’s reputation so as to 
lower him or her in the estimation of the community or deter third persons from associating 
or dealing with him or her.

TORTS / INTENTIONAL TORTS
	 The tort of concerted tortious activity is essentially a civil aiding and abetting action 
under which one is liable for harm resulting to a third person from the tortious activity of 
another if he either: (1) does a tortious act in concert with the other or pursuant to a common 
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design with him; (2) knows that the other’s conduct constitutes a breach of duty and gives 
substantial assistance or encouragement to the other so to conduct himself; or (3) gives 
substantial assistance to the other in accomplishing a tortious result and his own conduct, 
separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to the third person.

CIVIL PROCEDURE / PLEADINGS / PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS
	 In evaluating the legal sufficiency of a complaint, the court must accept as true all well-
pleaded, material, and relevant facts alleged in the pleading and every inference that is fairly 
deducible from those facts.

CIVIL PROCEDURE / PLEADINGS / 
PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS / TORTS /DEFAMATION

	 In a defamation action, when ruling on preliminary objections in the nature of a demurrer, 
the question is whether a non-defamatory interpretation is the only reasonable one.

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW / TORTS / DEFAMATION
	 The First Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits a public official from 
recovering damages for a defamatory falsehood relating to his official conduct unless he 
proves that the statement was made with actual malice — that is, with knowledge that it 
was false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false or not.

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW / TORTS / DEFAMATION
	 Actual malice does not mean ill will or malice in the ordinary sense of the term, and 
so, cannot be shown simply by virtue of the fact a media defendant published material to 
increase its profits, or failed to investigate before publishing, even when a reasonably prudent 
person would have done so; rather, actual malice requires at a minimum that statements be 
made with a reckless disregard for the truth, that is, the defendant must have made the false 
publication with a high degree of awareness of probable falsity, or must have entertained 
serious doubts as to the truth of his publication.

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW / TORTS / DEFAMATION / EVIDENCE
	 While even an extreme departure from professional standards, without more, will not 
support a finding of actual malice, a plaintiff is nonetheless entitled to prove a defendant’s 
state of mind through circumstantial evidence, and it cannot be said that evidence concerning 
motive or care never bears any relation to the actual malice inquiry.

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW / TORTS / DEFAMATION / PLEADINGS
	 Factual allegations, taken together, may be sufficiently plausible to support an inference 
of actual malice, even if certain allegations, standing alone, would not.

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW / TORTS / DEFAMATION / EVIDENCE / PLEADINGS
	 While a court is not bound to accept as true averments in a complaint which are in conflict 
with documentary exhibits attached to it, an evaluation of exhibits or attachments which 
are testimonial in nature would inherently involve an assessment of the credibility of the 
statements included therein, and therefore, is a matter properly left to the finder of fact.

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW / TORTS / DEFAMATION / 
PLEADINGS / PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS

	 While courts must ensure that only truly meritorious defamation lawsuits are allowed to proceed, 
lest exposure to monetary liability chill the exercise of political debate that is the foundation of 
our constitutional republic, courts must also be mindful of the deferential standard of review 
through which they must assess whether particular claims appear meritorious on demurrer.
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF ERIE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA
TRIAL DIVISION – CIVIL
No. 10819 of 2021

Appearances:	 David Kennedy Houck, Esq., Attorney for Plaintiff, Robert Weisenbach
	 John Langford, Esq., pro hac vice, Attorney for Plaintiff, Robert Weisenbach
	 Linda A. Kerns, Esq., Attorney for Defendants, Project Veritas and James  
	      O’Keefe, III
	 Benjamin T. Barr, Esq., pro hac vice, Attorney for Defendants, Project Veritas  
	      and James O’Keefe, III
	 Matthew L. Minsky, Esq., Attorney for Defendant, Richard Alexander Hopkins

OPINION OF THE COURT
Piccinini, J.,							              July 15, 2022
	 Project Veritas is a non-profit media organization founded by James O’Keefe, III. On 
November 5, 2020, just two days after the November 3, 2020, presidential election, it 
published a story claiming to have uncovered a voter fraud scheme orchestrated out of the 
United States Postal Service General Mail Facility in Erie, Pennsylvania. Specifically, the 
article and accompanying video alleged that Erie Postmaster, Robert Weisenbach, directed 
the backdating of mail-in ballots in order to sway the outcome of the presidential election in 
favor of candidate Joseph Biden. Amended Complaint (Am. Compl.), ¶ 1. The report relied 
upon an anonymous whistleblower, later revealed to be Richard Hopkins, a postal employee 
who claimed he overhead a conversation between Weisenbach and another supervisor. 
Hopkins stated that Weisenbach’s motive for backdating mail-in ballots was that he was a 
“Trump hater,” although, in reality, Weisenbach was a supporter of President Donald Trump 
and voted for him on election day. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 58, 70.
	 In the days that followed, Project Veritas posted two more video interviews with Hopkins 
where he repeated his false claims, the latter after it was reported by news outlets that Hopkins 
had recanted his earlier allegations when confronted by postal inspectors, although Hopkins later 
claimed that recantation was coerced. The story soon gained traction among those amplifying 
claims of voter fraud, including President Trump himself. Am. Compl. ¶ 6. Weisenbach was 
forced to leave Erie for a time after personal details, including his address, were discovered 
and disseminated by readers of the Project Veritas stories. Project Veritas nonetheless maintains 
that the stories were investigated and published consistent with standards of “professional, 
ethical and responsible journalism.” Oral Argument Transcript (Tr.), p. 48.
	 Weisenbach disagrees. He brings this lawsuit against Hopkins, Project Veritas, and 
O’Keefe, alleging claims of defamation and concerted tortious activity. Defendants now 
seek to dismiss the claims before discovery has even begun by filing Preliminary Objections 
to Weisenbach’s First Amended Complaint. That parties frame the action in broad terms as 
implicating competing ideals lying at the heart of our republic. Weisenbach argues that the 
stories were “not investigative journalism[,]” but rather “targeted character assassination 
aimed at undermining faith in the United States Postal Service and the results of the 2020 
Presidential election” having “no place in our country.” Am. Compl. ¶¶ 10-11. Defendants 
contend that this case raises fundamental concerns regarding freedom of the press, and that, 

pursuant to the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, we rely not on judges 
or juries to root out pernicious speech, but on competition in an uninhibited marketplace of 
ideas where the truth will ultimately prevail. Tr, p. 45.
	 Whatever the merits of these lofty assertions, the Court’s task today in reviewing 
Defendants’ Preliminary Objections is much more modest. First, the Court must decide 
whether it lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the claims against Hopkins in light of the 
Federal Tort Claims Act, which vests federal courts with exclusive jurisdiction over actions 
brought against federal employees who cause injury while acting within the scope of their 
employment. Second, in assessing Defendants’ Objections in the nature of demurrers, the 
Court must simply determine “whether, on the facts averred, the law says with certainty that 
no recovery is possible.” Bruno v. Erie Ins. Co., 106 A.3d 48, 56 (Pa. 2014).  For the reasons 
that follow, the Court answers both of those questions in the negative and consequently 
overrules Defendants’ Preliminary Objections to the First Amended Complaint.

I. BACKGROUND
	 Because this matter comes to the Court on preliminary objections in the nature of demurrers,1 
the alleged facts are recounted simply as they appear in Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint. 
Connor v. Archdiocese of Philadelphia, 975 A.2d 1084, 1085-86 (Pa. 2009). In 2019, 
Pennsylvania enacted legislation commonly known as Act 77, allowing, for the first time in 
the Commonwealth’s history, no-excuse mail-in voting for all qualified voters. Am. Compl. ¶ 
20. Because Democratic voters are statistically more likely to utilize mail-in voting procedures 
than their Republican counterparts, political analysts have identified a phenomenon dubbed the 
“Red Mirage”, whereby early vote counts may appear inaccurately skewed toward Republican 
candidates before a sufficient number of mail-in ballots are counted. Am. Compl. ¶ 27. In 
the lead-up to the 2020 presidential election, some commentators predicted just such a “Red 
Mirage” would occur in those states that permit mail-in voting, like Pennsylvania, leading to 
a scenario in which President Trump would obtain an early lead in the polls in those states, 
declare victory, subsequently claim “something sinister” was afoot if votes began to inure to 
candidate Biden’s favor, and ultimately attempt to disenfranchise those voters who had utilized 
mail-in ballots in order to keep the White House. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 27-28 (citing Tom McCarthy, 
‘Red Mirage’: The ‘Insidious’ Scenario if Trump Declares an Early Victory, Guardian  
(Oct. 30, 2020)). Project Veritas was keenly aware of this possibility as well. As early as 2019, 
in an effort codenamed “Diamond Dog,” it sought to erode confidence in mail-in voting systems 
by publishing stories claiming to document instances of illegal “ballot harvesting,” that is, the 
unauthorized collection of mail-in ballots from other voters. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 24-25.2
	 As it happens, the Amended Complaint alleges that on the night of the 2020 presidential 
election a “Red Mirage” did manifest, with President Trump finding himself up by 700,000 
votes on the evening of November 3rd, but running behind candidate Biden in the vote 
count as the hours and days wore on. Am. Compl. ¶ 29. As predicted, President Trump 

   1  	Hopkins also raises a Preliminary Objection as to subject matter jurisdiction under Pa.R.C.P. 1028(a)(1). 
However, for reasons explained more fully in Part II, infra, his objection in this regard is the functional equivalent 
of a demurrer since he asks the Court to assess the Objection based solely upon the averments set forth in the 
Amended Complaint.
   2  	For instance, Act 77 requires that “the elector shall send [the securely sealed envelope containing a ballot] 
by mail, postage prepaid, except where franked, or deliver it in person to said county board of election.” 25 P.S. 
§ 3150.16. 
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claimed that “widespread election fraud was to blame for the impossible reversal of fortune.”  
Am. Compl. ¶ 30. In the midst of President Trump’s protestations, Project Veritas pushed 
forward with its “Diamond Dog” initiative, including through the solicitation of potential 
sources willing to come forward with claims of election fraud. Am. Compl. ¶ 74. For instance, 
on November 4, 2020, it published a story in which a postal worker in Michigan claimed 
that mail carriers there were being instructed to segregate mail-in ballot envelopes received 
after the November 3rd election so that they could be fraudulently hand-marked as being 
received on election day. Am. Compl. ¶ 38.
	 Then, on November 5, 2020, Project Veritas published the first in a series of stories related to 
the claims at the center of this dispute. The piece relied on an anonymous whistleblower working 
at the General Mail Facility in Erie, Pennsylvania. Am. Compl. ¶ 39. In particular, it alleged 
a scheme to illegally backdate mail-in ballots based upon a conversation the whistleblower 
overheard between the local postmaster and an office supervisor. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 39, 44. In 
the edited telephonic interview conducted by James O’Keefe, published across all of Project 
Veritas’ media platforms, and accompanied by the hashtag “#MailFraud,” the whistleblower 
explained that he was “able to hear” the postmaster tell the supervisor that they had “messed 
up yesterday” because they “postmarked one of the ballots the fourth instead of the third.” Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 40-41, 45. When asked by O’Keefe why the postmaster was upset, the whistleblower 
answered “because, well he’s honest to God, he’s actually a Trump hater.” Am. Compl. ¶ 46.
	 During the interview, O’Keefe refers to Weisenbach as “Rob, the postmaster,” at which 
time an image of Weisenabach appears in the video and remains for the duration of O’Keefe’s 
exchange with the whistleblower, captioned “Robert E Weisenbach Jr”. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 46-48. 
The video also includes a brief clip from a phone exchange between O’Keefe and Weisenbach in 
which Weisenbach responds to the allegations by calling them “untrue” and explaining “I don’t 
talk to reporters like you[,]” before ending the call. Am. Compl. ¶ 48. An article accompanying 
the video asserts that, according to the whistleblower, “the supervisors and postmasters are 
coordinating with other postal facilities during their daily conference calls with the district 
leadership[.]” Am. Compl. ¶¶ 49, 51. The article also quotes the whistleblower as saying that 
the backdating was done surreptitiously “after all the carriers leave[.]” Am. Compl. ¶ 53.
	 The following day, November 6, 2020, O’Keefe continued to amplify the story, tweeting: 
“The fraud is happening as we speak … they are going to be collecting and backdating ballots 
in Pennsylvania tomorrow according to our whistleblower.” Am. Compl. ¶ 54. That same 
day, Project Veritas also posted a new video with the whistleblower in which his identity is 
revealed as Richard Hopkins. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 79, 81. As part of the story, Project Veritas also 
produced an affidavit signed by Hopkins, which it drafted, attesting to the veracity of his claims.  
Am. Compl. ¶¶ 83-84. On November 7, 2020, Weisenbach, issued his only public statement on 
the matter through a Facebook post, categorically denying the allegations. Am. Compl. ¶ 91. 
	 Unsurprisingly, the Postal Service’s Office of Inspector General was eager to speak to Hopkins 
about his claims too. Am. Compl. ¶ 76. In an initial interview conducted on November 6, 2020, 
Hopkins relayed to postal inspectors his allegations concerning an illegal backdating scheme in 
Erie. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 76-78. However, when interviewed a second time, on November 9, 2020, 
Hopkins appeared to walk back some of his earlier statements. Am. Compl. ¶ 92. Hopkins, 
unbeknownst to the postal inspectors for the duration, recorded the interview, a roughly 2-hour 
portion of which was later published by Project Veritas. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 93, 95.

	 In the interview, Hopkins states that the only thing he could specifically recall was that he 
overheard Weisenbach and the supervisor “saying something about the markings being on the 
third. One was the fourth. That’s it.” Am. Compl. ¶ 96. He further clarified that his recollection 
of the conversation was “based on [his] assumption of what [he] could hear[,]” and he further 
acknowledged that “I didn’t specifically hear the whole story. I just heard a part of it. And I 
could have missed a lot of it.” Am. Compl. ¶ 96. When it was suggested by one of the inspectors 
that “[t]he reality is, you’ve heard words and you assumed what they were saying[,]” he 
responded “[m]y mind probably added the rest.” Am. Compl. ¶ 96. Hopkins further explained 
to postal inspectors that Project Veritas had told him not to speak to any other media company 
until Project Veritas had vetted them to assure they would not write “a bad story[,]” and that 
O’Keefe and Project Veritas helped him set up a GoFundMe account in case “[he] lost [his] 
job or something went haywire[.]” Am. Compl. ¶ 97. When asked whether he would continue 
to swear to certain portions of the affidavit he had previously signed with Project Veritas, he 
stated, “[a]t this point, no[.]” Am. Compl. ¶ 96. With the help of postal inspectors, Hopkins 
then signed a revised affidavit retracting many of the assertions in his previous one on the 
understanding that doing so would “save [his] ass[.]” Am. Compl. ¶¶ 97-98.
	 The following day, November 10, 2020, new media outlets, including the Washington Post, 
published stories reporting that Hopkins had recanted his prior claims. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 101-02. 
That same day, the United States Postal Service informed Hopkins that he was being placed on 
unpaid administrative leave for “endangering his own personal welfare and/or the welfare of his 
co-workers[.]” Am. Compl. ¶ 103. Hours later, Hopkins responded by posting a YouTube video 
referencing the Washington Post article, denying he had recanted his previous allegations, and 
promising that viewers would “find out tomorrow” what really happened during his interview 
with postal inspectors. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 105-06.
	 On November 11, 2020, Project Veritas published a video interview with Hopkins and 
accompanying article where he claimed he was “coerced” into recanting, that postal inspectors 
had “grill[ed] the Hell out of [him,]” and that he “just got played.” Am. Compl. ¶¶ 110-11. 
When asked by O’Keefe whether he stood by his original claims that the “postmaster, Rob 
Weisenbach, directed your co-workers to pick up ballots” and that he “heard Weisenbach 
tell a supervisor, they were back dating the ballots to make it appear they’d been collected 
on November 3[,]” Hopkins responded unequivocally “Yes.” Am. Compl. ¶ 113. Hopkins 
also encouraged other postal workers to come forward with their stories because “Veritas 
has got your back.” Am. Compl. ¶ 114.
	 Project Veritas’s stories alleging voter fraud at the General Mail Facility in Erie garnered 
national attention. Am. Compl. ¶ 119. On November 6, 2020, the Trump Campaign obtained 
a copy of the affidavit Hopkins had executed with Project Veritas’ help and circulated it 
for publication. Am. Compl. ¶ 120. On November 7, 2020, Senator Lindsey Graham, 
Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee, called upon the Attorney General to launch 
an investigation. Am. Compl. ¶ 121. On November 9, 2020, Attorney General William 
Barr authorized the Department of Justice to investigate meritorious claims of “election 
irregularities.” Am. Compl. ¶ 122. An ensuing lawsuits by the Trump Campaign in federal 
court even cited to the November 5, 2020, Project Veritas story as evidence in support of 
its voter fraud allegations. Am. Compl. ¶ 123.
	 Closer to home, the stories had an immediate impact on Weisenbach and his family.  
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Am. Compl. ¶ 125. By mid-afternoon on November 5, 2020, internet trolls had already 
discovered and released Weisenbach’s personal contact information and home address. Am. 
Compl. ¶ 126. Within hours, Weisenbach had to close or disguise all of his social media 
accounts. Am. Compl. ¶ 128. He began to receive hate email and threats, in addition to 
numerous correspondence from Fox News, The Wall Street Journal, Reuters, the Associated 
Press, CNN, and the Washington Times, to which he was directed by the Postal Service not 
to respond. Am. Compl. ¶ 129.
	 On November 6, 2020, after Weisenbach was interviewed by postal inspectors himself, 
it was determined, for his own safety and that of his family, that they should leave the area 
immediately and shelter-in-place at a hotel. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 130-31. He arrived home that 
day around 3:00 p.m., escorted by a postal inspector, but within moments of pulling into his 
driveway, an unknown man approached, yelling belligerently. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 131-32. When 
Weisenbach exited his vehicle, he noticed the assailant was carrying a cell phone in one hand 
and had the other inside his coat pocket. Am. Compl. ¶ 132. Weisenbach took refuge by hiding 
the backseat of another family vehicle where he called his supervisor. Am. Compl. ¶ 132.
	 Meanwhile, the postal inspector escorting Weisenbach approached the driveway with 
the window down and advised the assailant to leave the property immediately, which 
resulted in the individual moving from the driveway onto the street behind Weisenbach’s 
vehicle, all the while continuing to demand that Weisenbach exit the vehicle so that they 
could talk. Am. Compl. ¶ 134. A few minutes later, Weisenbach’s neighbor, a Pennsylvania 
State Police Trooper, advised the unknown man to leave the area, but the assailant did not 
do so. Am. Compl. ¶ 135. Eventually, Millcreek Police arrived on the scene, sealed off the 
street, and exited their vehicles with guns drawn. Am. Compl. ¶ 136. The police searched 
the assailant and his vehicle, the postal inspector and his vehicle, and removed Weisenbach 
from his vehicle at gunpoint, where he was placed on the ground and searched. Am. Compl. 
¶ 136. The unknown assailant was ultimately released and warned by police not to return.  
Am. Compl. ¶ 137. Weisenbach left the incident “[b]ewildered, shaken, and fearing for the 
safety and welfare of his life and his family[.]” Am. Compl. ¶ 138.
	 Although Wiesenbach and his wife hurriedly packed and left Erie, neighbors later revealed 
that a black Jeep SUV with two visible occupants, later determined from its New Jersey license 
plates to belong to Project Veritas, was surveilling the home. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 138-39. Project 
Veritas continued to harass Weisenbach through the winter, and published an ambush attempt at 
an interview with Weisenbach on February 23, 2021. Am. Compl. ¶ 140. Weisenbach remains 
anxious over being confronted by members of the community concerning these allegations 
and “is grateful that a mask worn to protect himself against COVID-19 also obscures his face” 
while running errands. Am. Compl. ¶ 141.
	 As for Hopkins, the GoFundMe page rapidly generated over $130,000.00 in proceeds, but 
the account was suspended and the donations returned shortly after it was reported that he 
had recanted. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 143-44. Hopkins subsequently set up a separate account on an 
alternative crowdfunding website, GiveSendGo, which amassed a value of $236,000.00 after 
O’Keefe encouraged Project Veritas readers to donate to the account. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 145-47. 
Hopkins was ultimately let go from his position with the United States Postal Service, collected 
the windfall from the donations on the GiveSendGo account, and thereafter “absconded, at 
least temporarily, to West Virginia.” Am. Compl. ¶ 148.

	 The United States Postal Service Office of Inspector General Report, released on 
February 3, 2021, concluded that “Hopkins acknowledged that he had no evidence of any 
backdated presidential ballots and could not recall any specific words said by the Postmaster 
or Supervisor.” Am. Compl. ¶ 149. It further found that “[b]oth the interview of the Erie 
County Election Supervisor and the physical examination of ballots produced no evidence 
of any backdated presidential ballots at the Erie, PA Post Office.” Am. Compl. ¶ 149. For 
his part, Weisenbach asserts that there was no scheme to illegally backdate ballots, that he 
did not personally backdate any ballots, nor did he instruct his employees to do so, and that 
neither he nor anyone in the Erie General Mail Facility were coordinating with other postal 
facilities to backdate ballots. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 56-57, 59-64, 87-89.3 Neither was Weisenbach 
a “Trump hater” or otherwise motivated by political bias against President Trump; to the 
contrary, he was “a registered Republican and Trump supporter who voted for the incumbent 
on Election Day.” Am. Compl. ¶¶ 58, 70.
	 Weisenbach responded by filing the instant action on April 22, 2021. Thereafter Defendants 
filed Preliminary Objections to the Complaint, but those Objections became moot when this 
Court granted Weisenbach leave to amend his pleading. On August 16, 2021, Weisenbach 
filed the operative First Amended Complaint containing three counts: Defamation and/or 
Defamation Per Se against Defendant Hopkins (Count I); Defamation and/or Defamation 
Per Se against Defendants Project Veritas and James O’Keefe, III (Count II); and Substantial 
Assistance/Concerted Tortious Activity against all three Defendants (Count III). Defendants 
once again filed Preliminary Objections to the Amended Complaint, along with accompanying 
briefs, and this Court subsequently held oral argument on the Objections. Upon careful 
consideration of the pleadings, briefs, and arguments of the parties, the Court now overrules 
the Preliminary Objections to Weisenbach’s First Amended Complaint.

II. JURISDICTION OVER CLAIMS AGAINST DEFENDANT HOPKINS
	 The Court begins by addressing Defendant Hopkins’ challenge to this Court’s subject 
matter jurisdiction over the claims levied against him. “Subject matter jurisdiction relates 
to the competency of a court to hear and decide the type of controversy presented.” Turner 
v. Estate of Baird, 270 A.3d 556, 560 (Pa. Super. 2022). “When preliminary objections raise 
a question of subject matter jurisdiction, the trial court’s function is to determine whether 
the law will bar recovery due to a lack of subject matter jurisdiction.” Community College 
of Philadelphia v. Faculty and Staff Federation of Community College of Philadelphia, 
205 A.3d 425, 430 n.5 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2019) (citation, internal quotation marks, and brackets 
omitted).
	 Hopkins raises this challenge under the aegis of Pennsylvania Rule of Civil Procedure 
1028(a)(1), permitting preliminary objections on the basis of “lack of jurisdiction over the 
subject matter of the action[.]” Pa.R.C.P. 1028(a)(1). As our Superior Court has explained: 

   3  	Moreover, any segregation of mail-in ballots collected after 8:00 p.m. on November 3, 2020, but before  
5:00 p.m. on November 6, 2020, would have been consistent with the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s recent ruling 
allowing such ballots to be counted, subject to United States Supreme Court’s November 6, 2020, directive to 
keep those ballots segregated while it considered a challenge to the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision. Am. 
Compl. ¶¶ 22-23, 90; see also Pennsylvania Democratic Party v. Boockvar, 238 A.3d 345 (Sept. 17, Pa. 2020); 
Republican Party of Pennsylvania. v. Boockvar, --- S.Ct. ---, 2020 WL 6536912 (Mem.) (U.S. Nov. 6, 2020) 
(Alito, J., in chambers).
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Pursuant to Pa.R.C.P. 1028(a), two distinct classifications of preliminary objections 
exist: objections that directly challenge the adequacy of the pleading, i.e., subparagraphs  
(a)(2), (3), and (4); and objections that raise challenges that transcend the four corners 
of the pleading. While the former may be determined by the factual averments of record, 
like [a] demurrer … the latter, such as [a] jurisdictional assertion, requires discovery 
and evidentiary support.

Murray v. American Lafrance, LLC, 234 A.3d 782, 788 (Pa. Super. 2020) (en banc). A 
challenge to subject matter jurisdiction “is of the sort that cannot be determined from facts 
of record.” Pennsylvania Independent Oil & Gas Association v. Pennsylvania One Call 
System, Inc., 245 A.3d 362, 366 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2021) (citation and internal quotation marks 
omitted). “The [party raising the objection] bears the burden to demonstrate the absence 
of jurisdiction, and only upon the presentation of evidence supporting the jurisdictional 
challenge does the burden shift to the [party asserting jurisdiction].” Id. The Court may 
“consider evidence by depositions or otherwise[,]” Pa.R.C.P. 1028(c)(2), including “affidavits 
or other competent evidence.” Pennsylvania Independent Oil & Gas Association, 245 A.3d 
at 366. The “mere allegation that the court lacks jurisdiction is insufficient to shift the 
burden[.]” Id. In considering a challenge to jurisdiction, a court “considers the evidence in 
the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” Murray, 234 A.3d at 788.4

	 Here, Hopkins argues that “Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint, by its very text, proves that 
this Court does not have jurisdiction over his claims.” Hopkins’s Prelim Obj., ¶ 7. He stresses 
that he “is not requesting that this Court make a ruling on the merits [of his jurisdictional 
claim]. Rather, [he] moves this Court for a jurisdictional determination as to whether the 
Postmaster has alleged sufficient facts to avail [himself] of this Court’s subject matter 
jurisdiction.” Hopkins’ Prelim Obj. ¶ 54; see also Tr., p. 12 (“at this point in the proceeding 
we’re just simply asking for the Court to look at the pleadings[.]”).5 The upshot is that the 

   4  	It is unclear whether, in light of Rule 1028(a)(1), a party challenging jurisdiction by preliminary objection can 
properly raise its objection in the form of a demurrer challenging the legal sufficiency of the pleading pursuant to 
subparagraph (a)(4), although there is some tacit support for this proposition. See Mallory v. Norfolk Southern 
Railway Co., 266 A.3d 542, 560 (Pa. 2021), cert. granted, --- S.Ct. ---, 2022 WL 1205835 (Mem) (U.S. Apr. 25, 2022) 
(reviewing preliminary objection as to personal jurisdiction as a challenge in the nature of a demurrer). While Hopkins’ 
challenge may sound in demurrer, he does not formally couch his objection as a challenge to the legal sufficiency of the 
Amended Complaint under subparagraph (a)(4) — on the contrary, he expressly labels the challenge as an Objection 
under subparagraph (a)(1) — nor does he ever refer to his jurisdictional challenge as a demurrer. Accordingly, the 
Court treats the Objection as a challenge under subparagraph (a)(1), subject to the attendant burden-shifting evidentiary 
framework. As the Court observes below, however, Hopkins’ challenge under subparagraph (a)(1) more or less operates 
as a demurrer due to that fact that he limits his argument to consideration of the four corners of the Amended Complaint.
   5  	Perhaps this is due to the fact that Hopkins understands the applicable standard to be that Weisenbach must 
make a “prima facie showing” of jurisdiction based upon “the face of the Amended Complaint[.]” Memorandum 
of Law in Supp. of Hopkins’ Prelim Obj., p. 6. He derives this test from CNA v. United States, 535 F.3d 132 (3rd 
Cir. 2008), which reasoned that “when faced with a jurisdictional issue that is intertwined with the merits of a 
claim, district courts must demand less in the way of jurisdictional proof than would be appropriate at a trial stage.” 
Id. at 144 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). “By requiring less of a factual showing than would 
be required to succeed at trial, district courts ensure that they do not prematurely grant Rule 12(b)(1) motions to 
dismiss claims in which jurisdiction is intertwined with the merits and could be established, along with the merits, 
given the benefit of discovery.” Id. at 145. But as the preceding passage reveals, the Third Circuit’s analysis 
naturally turned on its understanding of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1). It does not appear that the Third 
Circuit’s prima facie rule relating to federal Rule 12(b)(1) can be fully reconciled with Pennsylvania Rule of Civil 
Procedure 1028(a)(1) in this regard, particularly the case law’s emphasis on evidentiary burden shifting and the 
admonition that such challenges cannot be determined purely from facts of record. Thus, Hopkins’ attempt to graft 
the Third Circuit’s prima facie standard onto his present Objection proves not only unpersuasive, but untenable, 
in light of applicable Pennsylvania appellate jurisprudence that is binding on this Court. 

Amended Complaint itself is the only piece of evidence proffered by Hopkins for purposes 
of his initial evidentiary burden to establish a lack of jurisdiction. When coupled with the 
fact that the Court must consider that document in the light most favorable to Weisenbach, 
Murray, 234 A.3d at 788, his Objection as to subject matter jurisdiction functions, for 
all intents and purposes, as a challenge in the nature of a demurrer. Although the Court 
arguably has the inherent authority to order additional evidence be taken by deposition or 
otherwise to supplement the record on the jurisdictional question, given Hopkins’ emphatic, 
self-imposed stance that his jurisdictional argument be limited to the four corners of the 
Amended Complaint, the Court will hold Hopkins to his request.
	 With this threshold matter resolved, the Court now turns to the merits of Hopkins’ 
jurisdictional Objection. Hopkins contends that, pursuant to the Federal Tort Claims Act, 
federal courts (rather than state courts, such as this one) have exclusive subject matter 
jurisdiction over Weisenbach’s claims of defamation and tortious conspiracy against 
him. This is so, he says, because the Amended Complaint makes clear that he was acting 
within the scope of his employment when he allegedly made the defamatory statements. 
Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Hopkins’ Prelim Obj., p. 1. Before digging deeper into 
Hopkins’ argument, it is necessary to review the contours of the Federal Tort Claims Act. 
	 Enacted in 1946, the Federal Tort Claims Act, “was designed primarily to remove the sovereign 
immunity of the United States from suits in tort.” Levin v. United States, 568 U.S. 503, 506 (2013) 
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). “The Act gives federal district courts exclusive 
jurisdiction over claims against the United States for injury or loss of property, or personal injury 
or death caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of federal employees acting within 
the scope of their employment.” Id. (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 1346(b)(1)). Additionally, the Act 
makes it more difficult to sue an employee individually by including a judgment bar, which 
precludes a plaintiff who receives a judgment against the United States government under the 
Act, favorable or not, from proceeding “with a suit against an individual employee based on 
the same underlying facts.” Simmons v. Himmelreich, 578 U.S. 621, 625 (2016). “The Act thus 
opened a new path to relief (suits against the United States) while narrowing the earlier one 
(suits against employees).” Brownback v. King, 141 S.Ct. 740, 746 (2021). 
	 Working in tandem with the Federal Tort Claims Act, “[t]he Federal Employees Liability 
Reform and Tort Compensation Act of 1988, commonly known as the Westfall Act, accords 
federal employees absolute immunity from common-law tort claims arising out of acts they 
undertake in the course of their official duties.” Osborn v. Haley, 549 U.S. 225, 229 (2007). 
“Importantly, Westfall Act immunity is not self-executing, that is, a federal employee does 
not receive absolute immunity from torts committed within the scope of his employment until 
the scope of employment certification is made.” Stein v. United States, 2021 WL 4895338, 
*3 (S.D. Ill. 2021) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). To that end, “[w]hen a 
federal employee is sued for wrongful or negligent conduct, the [Westfall] Act empowers 
the Attorney General to certify that the employee was acting within the scope of his office 
or employment at the time of the incident out of which the claim arose.” Osborn, 549 U.S. 
at 229-230. “Upon the Attorney General’s certification, the employee is dismissed from the 
action, and the United States is substituted as defendant in place of the employee.” Id. at 
230. “These certification and substitution procedures are measures “designed to immunize 
covered federal employees not simply from liability, but from suit.” Id. at 238.
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	 From the outset, the parties disagree about the way in which a federal court exercises 
jurisdiction over such a claim. Hopkins argues Section 1346(b)(1) of the Federal Tort 
Claims Act vests federal courts with sole authority to consider claims brought against postal 
employees who cause injury while acting within the scope of their employment ab initio, 
thereby stripping state courts of jurisdiction to consider the same. Memorandum of Law in 
Supp. of Hopkins’ Prelim Obj., p. 8.6 Weisenbach responds that the Federal Tort Claims Act 
merely provides a federal employee who has been sued the opportunity to seek to have the 
case converted into an action against the United States by asking the Attorney General to 
certify that the employee was acting within the scope of his or her employment. Pl.’s Br. in 
Opp. to Hopkins’ Prelim. Obj., p. 17. But “[u]nless and until Hopkins obtains a certification 
that he was acting within the scope of his employment when he repeatedly defamed Plaintiff,” 
the Federal Tort Claim Act “does not kick in.” Pl.’s Br. in Opp. to Hopkins Prelim. Obj., 
p. 18 (quoting Sullivan v. Freeman, 944 F.2d 334, 337 (7th Cir. 1991) (Posner, J.) (internal 
quotation marks omitted)).
	 When Congress wants to deprive state courts of jurisdiction to hear certain claims, it 
has an “easy way to do so” by inserting an exclusive federal jurisdiction provision into the 
statute. Cyan, Inc. v. Beaver County Employees Retirement Fund, 138 S.Ct. 1061, 1070 
(2018). That appears to be what Congress did here. Section 1346(b)(1) of the Federal Tort 
Claims Act directs: 

   6  	Hopkins relies on an unpublished case, Holz v. Reese, 2016 WL 2908455 (Pa. Super. 2016) (unpublished), 
where the Pennsylvania Superior Court held the trial court properly dismissed a case against various federal 
prison officials because “Congress has divested it of subject matter jurisdiction” through Section 1346(b)(1) 
of the Federal Tort Claims Act Id. at *3. Weisenbach challenges the propriety of Hopkins’ reliance on the case 
as it was decided prior to May 2, 2019. Tr. pp. 24-25. It is true that Pennsylvania Rule of Appellate Procedure 
126 only expressly allows a party to cite to “an unpublished non-precedential memorandum decision of the 
Superior Court filed after May 1, 2019[,]” and the internal operating procedures of the Superior Court provides 
that “[a]n unpublished memorandum decision filed prior to May 2, 2019, shall not be relied upon or cited by a 
Court or a party in any other action or proceeding[.]” Pa.R.A.P. 126(b)(1); 210 Pa. Code § 65.37. It is doubtful, 
however, whether either the Rules of Appellate Procedure or the internal operating procedure of the Superior 
Court are binding in this Court. The Court does note that as of April 1, 2022, newly promulgated Rule of Civil 
Procedure 242 directs that “[c]itation of authorities in matters subject to these rules shall be in accordance with 
Pa.R.A.P. 126.” Pa.R.C.P. 242. This mandate is undoubtedly binding on parties presenting argument before courts 
of common pleas, but since that Rule was not in effect, either at the time of briefing or oral argument, the Court 
will not preclude Hopkins from relying on Holz for its persuasive value. Truth be told though, Holz does not factor 
significantly into the Court’s analysis. The Court ultimately agrees with its treatment of Section 1346(b)(1) as a 
jurisdiction stripping provision, but finds that the case is factually distinguishable as the pleading here does not 
establish that Hopkins was acting within the scope of his employment when the injury occurred. 

Subject to the provisions of chapter 171 of this title, the district courts, together with 
the United States District Court for the District of the Canal Zone and the District 
Court of the Virgin Islands, shall have exclusive jurisdiction of civil actions on claims 
against the United States, for money damages, accruing on and after January 1, 1945, 
for injury or loss of property, or personal injury or death caused by the negligent or 
wrongful act or omission of any employee of the Government while acting within the 
scope of his office or employment, under circumstances where the United States, if a 
private person, would be liable to the claimant in accordance with the law of the place 
where the act or omission occurred.

28 U.S.C. § 1346(b)(1) (emphasis added). On the other hand, a distinct, albeit related, 
provision of the Westfall Act, Section 2679(d), affords federal employees absolute immunity 
from suit for claims arising out of acts done in the course of their employment, and provides 
a procedure for removing a case involving such an employee to federal court, where the 
United States government is substituted as a party defendant. Weisenbach cites to Thompson 
v. Wheeler, 898 F.2d 406 (3rd Cir. 1990) for the proposition that, pursuant to Section 2679(d): 

[J]urisdiction lies only after the Attorney General certifies that the federal [employee] 
was acting within the scope of his employment. The possibility that such certification 
might issue does not automatically divest a state court of subject matter jurisdiction. To 
the contrary, in enacting section 2679, Congress anticipated that suits initially would 
be brought in state court.

Thompson, 898 F.2d at 409 n.2.
	 The Court notes that federal case law is less than clear on the interplay between the 
exclusive federal jurisdiction provision of Section 1346(b) of the Federal Tort Claims Act 
and the federal employee immunity and attendant removal provisions of Section 2679(d) 
of the Westfall Act. See James v. United States Postal Service, 484 F.Supp.3d 1, 4 (D.D.C. 
2020) (“Because the FTCA endows federal district courts with exclusive jurisdiction over 
claims thereunder, the D.C. Superior Court could not have had subject matter jurisdiction 
over Plaintiff’s claims.”); Kennedy v. Paul, 2013 WL 5435183, *4 (D. Conn. 2013) (“The 
Superior Court did not have jurisdiction to hear HGC’s apportionment complaint against the 
Coast Guard Defendants because section 1346(b)(1) gives exclusive jurisdiction over those 
claims to the federal district court.”) (rejecting reliance on Thompson because “jurisdiction 
is usually determined at the time the case is filed and subsequent events cannot destroy it.”); 
Houston v. United States Postal Service, 823 F.2d 896, 903 (5th Cir. 1987) (“The state courts 
have no jurisdiction to hear even properly exhausted tort claims against the United States.”); 
but see Stein, 2021 WL 4895338, *3 (“Were the Court to accept the United States’ position, 
the United States could avoid all liability in removed FTCA claims by timely invoking the 
doctrine of derivative jurisdiction in every case removed under the Westfall Act. Under its 
view, no tort suit begun in state court against an individual could survive removal under the 
Westfall Act, for in every one of those cases, the state court would not have had subject matter 
jurisdiction over what turned out to be an FTCA claim. This is inconsistent with Congress’s 
clear desire to provide just compensation — in a federal forum — for those injured by the 
negligence of federal employees.” (citation omitted; emphasis in original)). 
	 In any event, this Court need not decide whether it would lack jurisdiction over such a 
claim from the start, as Hopkins suggests, or whether it would be deprived of jurisdiction only 
upon Westfall Act certification, as Weisenbach argues, for even assuming, without deciding, 
that Hopkins is correct that Section 1346(b) would divest this Court of jurisdiction over such 
a claim ab initio, he still fails to show that the claims alleged here fall within the parameters 
of Section 1346(b)(1). Under that provision, federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction not 
in every case, but only in a specific class of cases: those involving injury or loss caused by 
government employees acting within the scope of their office or employment. The Amended 
Complaint suggests that Hopkins was acting outside the scope of his employment when he 
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made the alleged defamatory remarks.
	 Hopkins contends that a fair reading of the Amended Complaint (which, recall, is the only 
evidence he offers in support of his Objection) reveals a de facto Federal Tort Claims Act action 
by alleging injury stemming from Hopkins’ employment as a postal worker. Hopkins’s Prelim 
Obj., ¶ 13. In assessing whether Weisenbach’s claims fall within the purview of the Federal Tort 
Claims Act, Hopkins suggests that “this Court should juxtapose the pleadings with Pennsylvania’s 
law on respondeat superior[,]” relying on CNA v. United States, 535 F.3d 132 (3rd Cir. 2008). 
There, the Third Circuit, itself relying on the Restatement (Second) of Agency adopted by 
Pennsylvania courts applied the following test to determine whether the employee acted within 
the scope of his employment for purposes of the Federal Tort Claims Act: “conduct is within the 
scope of employment if, but only if: (a) it is the kind the employee is employed to perform; (b) it 
occurs substantially within the authorized time and space limits; and (c) it is actuated, at least in 
part, by a purpose to serve the master.” Id. at 147 (citations, internal quotation marks, brackets, 
and parenthetical omitted).
	 Hopkins also refers the Court to Comment e of Restatement (Second) of Agency, which states 
that “[i]t may be found to be within the scope of employment of a person managing a business 
to accuse another of wrongful conduct or to report to others the supposed wrongful conduct of 
an employee or other person.” Restatement (Second) of Agency § 247, cmt e (1958). He further 
highlights the Restatement’s observation that “[a] servant having a duty to make such reports 
either to his employer or to others … may subject his employer to liability for his untruthful 
statements constituting defamation because made in excess of a privilege to speak, if he speaks 
in connection with his employment and with a purpose to serve it.” Restatement (Second) of 
Agency § 247, cmt e (1958) (emphasis added). With these sources in mind, Hopkins argues 
that “[i]t is apparent, on the face of the Amended Complaint, that [his] alleged defamatory 
statements to Project Veritas and the OIG investigators are within the scope of his employment 
with the U.S. Postal Service.” Hopkins’ Prelim. Obj., ¶ 19. But this Hopkins cannot show, even 
applying his proposed test.
	 First, while his statements to postal inspectors may well fall within the scope of his 
employment, none of those statements actually underlie Weisenbach’s claims for defamation 
or concerted tortious activity.7 Instead, it is alleged that Hopkins made defamatory statements 
to Project Veritas, which in turn, published and amplified his defamatory statements to the 
world. And while his alleged recantation on November 9th may be relevant to an actual malice 
inquiry, it is not a statement Weisenbach claims constitutes defamation itself. Quite the opposite; 
Weisenbach suggests his recantation was the closest he came to admitting the truth. In short, 
whether or not Hopkins’ statements to investigators were within the scope of his employment 
are wholly irrelevant to the analysis of whether the defamation and concerted tortious activity 
claims lodged against Hopkins are cognizable under the Federal Tort Claims Act.
	 That leaves the three interviews Hopkins gave to O’Keefe that were later incorporated 
into the November 5, 6, and 11th stories posted by Project Veritas. Hopkins argues that his 
statements to the media, i.e. Project Veritas, fell “well within the scope of his employment” 

   7  	Hopkins relies on Paragraph 78 of the Amended Complaint, which avers that “HOPKINS repeated his false 
claims to the investigators[.]” Am. Compl. ¶ 78. But the fact that Hopkins repeated or otherwise communicated 
his allegedly false claims to investigators does not mean they form part of Weisenbach’s case for defamation or 
concerted tortious activity. 

   8  	Hopkins also cites to Section 665.3 of the Manual, requiring postal employees to cooperate in any postal 
investigation, but as the Court has already explained, Hopkins statements to postal inspectors do not form the 
basis of Weisenbach’s defamation and concerted tortious activity claims.
   9  	Moreover, a government employee’s oath to support and defend the Constitution does not operate as a 
freestanding grant of authority. As such, Hopkins cannot use his oath as a basis to expand the scope of his 
employment beyond that which he is already authorized or obligated to do.  

because he was “integrally involved with the mail ballot process.” Hopkins Prelim. Obj.  
¶¶ 24-25. But the mere fact that one speaks about his employment does not mean that speech 
was made “in connection with his employment” or “with a purpose to serve it.” Restatement 
(Second) of Agency § 247, cmt e. If that were the case, a firefighter or school teacher 
returning home from work after a busy day and relaying to their families the events of the 
day would be acting within the scope of their employment simply by virtue of the fact that 
the content of their conversation relates to matters “integrally involved with” firefighting or 
teaching. As Weisenbach points out, “Hopkins wasn’t hired by the postal service to speak 
on behalf of the postal service. He was hired to deliver the mail.” Tr., p. 20. It thus cannot 
be reasonably claimed that Hopkins’ statements to Project Veritas were either “the kind the 
employee is employed to perform” or that it occurred “substantially within the authorized 
time and space limits” of his employment. CNA, 535 F.3d at 147.
	 Instead, Hopkins appears to rely on the third category, claiming that his whistleblower 
activity was “actuated, at least in part, by a purpose to serve the master.” Id. He contends 
the U.S. Postal Service’s Employee and Labor Relations Manual imposed a duty on him to 
report the wrongful conduct he believed was occurring, as did the oath he swore to support 
and defend the United States Constitution. Hopkins Prelim. Obj. ¶¶ 30-33. He asserts this 
duty extended not merely to internal reporting, but to reports to news media, like Project 
Veritas, as well. Hopkins Prelim. Obj. ¶ 36.
	 Setting aside the fact that the Manual was neither entered into evidence for purposes of 
these Objections, nor referenced in the Amended Complaint, the Manual, at most, insulates an 
employee who discloses information they believe evinces a violation from reprisal. Hopkins 
Prelim. Obj. ¶ 32 (citing Manual, Section 666.18). That hardly means the disclosure itself was 
made in connection with his employment or with a purpose to serve it, particularly where, as 
here, it is averred that the disclosure was made with knowledge of its falsity or reckless disregard 
for the truth. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 65, 166.8 Nor is the Constitution of the United States, or an oath 
to support it, furthered by false and self-serving statements, as these are alleged to be.9
	  Hopkins argues that his public comments, particularly his third interview where he denied 
having recanted his earlier statements, were incidental to post office business in order to 
correct misinformation. Prelim. Obj. ¶ 40 (citing Shuman v. Weber, 419 A.2d 169, 173  
(Pa. Super. 1980) (It is not necessary … that the acts be specifically authorized by the master to 
fall within the scope of employment; it is sufficient if they are clearly incidental to the master’s 
business[.]”)). However, the Amended Complaint refutes the assertion that Hopkins’ motive 
was to serve the United States Postal Service. Rather, drawing all reasonable inferences in 
Weisenbach’s favor, the Amended Complaint suggests that Hopkins was driven by financial 
gain and a desire to cast doubt upon the legitimacy of the election and the integrity of his 
employer. Am. Compl. ¶ 10. This allegation is more akin to sabotage than service.
	 Hopkins insists that certain images in the Amended Complaint, including one purportedly 
depicting him delivering mail in uniform while speaking to O’Keefe, show he was in the 
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course of conducting his duties at the time he made the alleged defamatory statements. 
Hopkins’ Prelim. Obj. ¶¶ 26-27. First and foremost, it is not at all clear that the pictures 
depict what Hopkins says they do, but even if they do, it does not follow that Hopkins was 
necessarily acting in performance of his duties when he made the alleged defamatory remarks 
simply virtue of the fact that he was on-duty at the time. To be “incidental to the master’s 
business,” as the case law cited by Hopkins uses that term, the act must be “subordinate to” 
or “pertinent to accomplishing the ultimate objective of his employer[.]” Weber, 419 A.2d 
at 173. A “personal expedition” that is “embarked upon” to accomplish “personal errands” 
is not. Id. Reading the Amended Complaint in the light most favorable to Weisenbach, 
Hopkins’ communications with Project Veritas were not pertinent to accomplishing his 
ultimate objective of delivering the mail, but more in the nature of a personal errand. That 
Hopkins may have been wearing his uniform at the time he gave the interviews does not 
preclude the possibility that he deviated from his postal service duties in order to speak with 
O’Keefe over the phone. In any event, it certainly cannot be said that Hopkins was speaking 
in connection with his employment and with a purpose to serve it when he gave his third 
interview to O’Keefe after being put on administrative leave. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 103, 109.
	 Taking a step back from the minutiae of Hopkins’ jurisdictional argument for a moment, 
the conclusion that this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims against Hopkins 
makes sense. Weisenbach is neither directly nor indirectly attempting to bring a suit against 
the United States government or the United States Postal Service for injury to his reputation. 
He brings the claims against Hopkins in his personal capacity. Recall that Hopkins is accused 
of assassinating the character of the Postal Service as well. Am. Compl. ¶ 10. The Postal 
Service and Weisenbach are thus both victims of the same tort, at least as Weisenbach sees 
it. And neither would it make sense to say that the Postal Service was acting in concert 
with O’Keefe and Project Veritas in attempting to undermine its own credibility. In this 
way, Hopkins’ jurisdictional claim is really an effort to rewrite the narrative set forth in the 
Amended Complaint. 
	 Alternatively, but relatedly, Hopkins argues that Weisenbach “cannot establish a viable 
claim for relief in state court against a federal employee unless he explicitly avers in the 
complaint that the alleged defamatory statements occurred outside the employee’s federal 
employment.” Hopkins’ Prelim. Obj. ¶ 63 (emphasis deleted). That Weisenbach does not 
explicitly state that Hopkins was acting outside the scope of his employment is of no 
moment, however, where, as here, the facts allege as much. Under our fact-pleading system, 
there are no “magic words” carrying talismanic significance that must averred in order to 
plead a particular set of facts. Tr., 20; see also Ratti v. Wheeling Pittsburgh Steel Corp.,  
758 A.2d 695, 706 (Pa. Super. 2000) (“Our focus is not on the use of magic words rather the 
adequacy of the complaint must be judged by examination of the facts pled, and not of the 
conclusions of law that accompany them.” (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)); 
DeFrancesco v. Western Pennsylvania Water Co., 453 A.2d 595, 597 n.5 (Pa. 1982) (“It is 
not to magic words, but to the essence of the underlying claims, we look in determining 
where jurisdiction properly lies.”).
	 Pennsylvania Rule of Civil Procedure 1019(a) simply requires a pleading to set forth “in 
a concise and summary form” the “material facts on which a cause of action or defense is 
based[.]” Pa.R.C.P. 1019(a). To that end, “[a] complaint must apprise the defendant of the 

nature and extent of the plaintiff’s claim so that the defendant has notice of what the plaintiff 
intends to prove at trial and may prepare to meet such proof with his own evidence.” Discover 
Bank v. Stucka, 33 A.3d 82, 86-87 (Pa. Super. 2011) (citation and internal quotation marks 
omitted). While the Amended Complaint may not expressly conclude that Weisenbach 
was acting outside the scope of his employment when he made the defamatory statements, 
the voluminous facts set forth in the pleading all suggest that he was. Only a strained and 
unnatural reading of the facts could lead to the conclusion that he was acting within the 
scope of his employment when he made the allegedly defamatory statements. And while 
Hopkins may vigorously dispute those facts, his concern is best addressed by denial of the 
allegations in an answer to the Amended Complaint, not through Preliminary Objections. 
	 Hopkins relies on Sharpless v.  Summers, 2001 WL 118960 (E.D. Pa. 2001) and Brown v. 
Wetzel, 179 A.3d 1161 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2018), but both of those cases involved lawsuits against 
government officials where the facts readily suggested the defendants were acting within the 
scope of their employment when the alleged injury occurred. In Sharpless, for instance, the 
court found the contention that a defendant “defamed and libeled Plaintiff among his co-workers 
and the general public” to be “remarkable[,]” especially given the contrary averment that  
“[a]t all times relevant hereto, Defendants were acting by and through their agents, employees, 
and representatives who were authorized and acting within the course and scope of their 
employment[.]” Sharpless, 2001 WL 118960 at *4. Here, Weisenbach never suggests, let alone 
expressly states, that Hopkins was acting within the scope of his employment.
	 Likewise, in Brown, “Inmates filed the Complaint alleging that, as a result of DOC’s 
administration failing to act on the knowledge of the existence of asbestos within the facility, 
one or more inmates were exposed to asbestos at some point between October 2014 and 
March 2016 while being confined at SCI–Rockview.” Brown, 179 A.3d 1164. Relevant to 
a fraud claim, one of those inmates, Lamar Brown, alleged that certain DOC employees 
named as defendants “falsified allegations in their grievance and grievance appeal responses 
to inmates’ grievances and grievance appeals[.]” Id. at 1167 (internal brackets omitted). The 
Plaintiff maintained “that because those individuals violated the Ethics Code, they were not 
acting within the scope of their employment.” The court concluded that because “Brown did 
not allege” that the DOC employees “were acting outside the scope of their employment, 
the trial court properly sustained the preliminary objection to Brown’s fraud claim based 
on sovereign immunity.” Id.
	 Unlike the allegedly false statements Hopkins provided to Project Veritas here, the filing of 
a grievance or a response to a grievance is the kind of act one would expect to be performed 
in the course of one’s employment as a prison official. Conversely, one would not expect 
DOC employees to respond to grievances made by inmates when they are not working. 
Thus, without more (such as an express averment that the employees were acting outside 
the scope of their employment when they made the allegedly false statements) the complaint 
failed to set forth material facts from which it could be discerned that the employees were 
acting outside the scope of their employment.
	 Critically, neither Sharpless nor Brown espouses the broad rule posited by Hopkins that a 
plaintiff has an affirmative obligation to specifically state that a defendant was acting outside 
the scope of his or her employment to avoid bringing the case within the jurisdictional orbit of 
the Federal Tort Claims Act. In both cases, the material facts set forth in the pleading simply 
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did not suggest that the defendants were acting outside the scope of their employment when 
the injury occurred. In Weisenbach’s Amended Complaint the opposite is true: the material 
facts, especially when read in the light most favorable to Weisenbach, strongly suggest that 
Hopkins was acting in a capacity wholly unrelated or incidental to his employment as a 
postal worker when he communicated allegedly false allegations about backdated ballots 
to O’Keefe and Project Veritas. To require Weisenbach to conclusory state as much using 
particular language or a specific phraseology would be repetitive of the facts already alleged, 
would unnecessarily elevate form over substance, and is neither required by the Pennsylvania 
Rules of Civil Procedure nor our case law.
	 Finally, Hopkins contends that if “this Court determines that the pleadings indicate 
[Hopkins] was acting within the scope of his employment, it should also dismiss the Amended 
Complaint for failure to exhaust administrative remedies.” Hopkins Prelim. Obj. ¶ 56. The 
administrative remedy to which he refers, found in Chapter 171 of Title 28, is Section 
2675(a), which directs that a “[a]n action shall not be instituted upon a claim against the 
United States for money damages ... unless the claimant shall have first presented the claim 
to the appropriate Federal agency and his claim shall have been finally denied by the agency 
in writing and sent by certified or registered mail.” 28 U.S.C. § 2675(a). Hopkins relies on 
White-Squire v. U.S. Postal Service, 592 F.3d 453 (3rd Cir. 2010) and its holding that the 
sum certain requirement of 2675(b) is jurisdictional, and therefore, deprives a federal district 
court of subject matter jurisdiction over a sum certain claim which is not first presented to 
the appropriate agency. Id. at 457-58. 
	 The Court observes that White-Squire’s holding that Section 2675 presents a jurisdictional 
bar has been cast into doubt by a string of decisions from the United States Supreme Court, 
which has since “endeavored to bring some discipline to use of the jurisdictional label.” 
Boechler, P.C. v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 142 S.Ct. 1493, 1497 (2022) (quoting 
Henderson ex rel. Henderson v. Shinseki, 562 U.S. 428, 435 (2011) (internal quotation marks 
omitted)); see also United States v. Wong, 575 U.S. 402 410 (2015) (holding Federal Tort 
Claims Act’s time bars are non-jurisdictional and therefore subject to equitable tolling) (“we 
have made plain that most time bars are nonjurisdictional.”). White-Squire’s holding that 
Section 2675 is jurisdictional was premised on the fact that the text of Section 1346 expressly 
“tethered” its grant of exclusive jurisdiction to federal district courts to the procedures set 
forth in Chapter 171. White-Squire, 592 F.3d at 457. Nevertheless, at least one federal court 
of appeals has disapproved of the Third Circuit’s analysis. See Copen v. United States,  
3 F.4th 875, 882 (6th Cir. 2021) (“The reference to chapter 171 in § 1346(b) is simply 
not clear enough to turn a rule that speaks in nonjurisdictional terms into a jurisdictional 
hurdle.” (quoting Gonzalez v. Thaler, 565 U.S. 134, 147 (2012) (internal quotation marks 
omitted))). 
	 In any event, this Court need not decide whether White-Squire’s analysis continues to carry 
persuasive force in light of intervening precedent, for even assuming that the administrative 
exhaustion requirement is jurisdictional, such that a litigant’s failure to exhaust those remedies 
would deprive this Court of subject matter jurisdiction, the administrative remedies referenced 
in Section 2675 are completely inapplicable to Weisenbach’s claims. Section 2675 provides 
in relevant part that:

An action shall not be instituted upon a claim against the United States for money 
damages for injury or loss of property or personal injury or death caused by the negligent 
or wrongful act or omission of any employee of the Government while acting within 
the scope of his office or employment, unless the claimant shall have first presented 
the claim to the appropriate Federal agency and his claim shall have been finally denied 
by the agency in writing and sent by certified or registered mail.

28 U.S.C. 2675(a). This verbiage directly tracks the language in the exclusive jurisdictional 
grant to federal courts found in Section 1346(b)(1). Because the substantive scope of these 
provisions are coterminous, the agency exhaustion requirement of Section 2675 will, in 
effect, only ever apply to an action over which federal courts properly have exclusive 
jurisdiction under Section 1346(b)(1). A state court considering a claim to which Section 
2675(a) would apply on its face would already be deprived of subject matter jurisdiction 
under Section 1346(b)(1).
	 White-Squire thus stands for the proposition that the failure to present the claim to the 
appropriate federal agency under Section 2675(a) precludes federal courts from exercising 
jurisdiction where they otherwise would have statutory authority to do so under Section 
1346(b)(1). Because both provisions are only applicable to actions against federal government 
employees acting within the scope of their employment, neither have any bearing on a 
case, such as this, where the employee is alleged to have acted outside the scope of his 
employment when he caused the injury. Put another way, a determination that an employee 
was acting outside the scope of his employment when he caused the alleged injury resolves the 
jurisdictional question under both Sections 2675(a) and 1346(b)(1). In this case, Weisenbach 
was not required to present the claim to the Postal Service before heading to court because 
it was not, in actuality, a grievance against the Postal Service, but rather, against Hopkins 
in his individual capacity. 
	 In sum, the Amended Complaint does not assert claims against Hopkins for injury he 
allegedly caused while acting within the scope of his employment as a U.S. postal worker, 
and as a result, the Federal Tort Claims Act does not deprive this Court of subject matter 
jurisdiction to adjudicate the claims against him. Hopkins has therefore failed to meet his 
evidentiary burden to demonstrate the absence of jurisdiction. Independent Oil & Gas 
Association, 245 A.3d at 366. With that, the Court proceeds to consider the Preliminary 
Objections in the nature of demurrers.

III. DEMURRER: DEFAMATION AND CONCERTED TORTIOUS ACTIVITY
	 Defendants Project Veritas and O’Keefe raise Preliminary Objections in the nature 
of demurrers asserting Weisenbach has not sufficiently pled the elements of a claim for 
defamation against them in Count II or a claim for substantial assistance, i.e., concerted 
tortious activity, in Count III. See Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. 
Project Veritas and O’Keefe, pp. 4-9, 15-16. “The question presented in a demurrer is whether, 
on the facts averred, the law says with certainty that no recovery is possible.” Bruno, 106 
A.3d at 56. “A demurrer tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint. For the purpose of 
evaluating the legal sufficiency of the challenged pleading, the court must accept as true all 
well-pleaded, material, and relevant facts alleged in the complaint and every inference that 
is fairly deducible from those facts.” Commonwealth by Shapiro v. UPMC, 208 A.3d 898, 
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908-09 (Pa. 2019) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). 
	 “Defamation is a communication which tends to harm an individual’s reputation so as to 
lower him or her in the estimation of the community or deter third persons from associating 
or dealing with him or her.” Coleman v. Ogden Newspapers, Inc., 142 A.3d 898, 904  
(Pa. Super. 2016) (citation omitted). Pennsylvania’s “Uniform Single Publication Act sets forth the 
elements of a prima facie defamation case[.]” Castellani v. Scranton Times, L.P., 124 A.3d 1229,  
1240-41 (Pa. 2015). Those elements include: (1) the defamatory character of the communication;  
(2) its publication by the defendant; (3) its application to the plaintiff; (4) the understanding by 
the recipient of its defamatory meaning; (5) the understanding by the recipient of it as intended 
to be applied to the plaintiff; (6) special harm resulting to the plaintiff from its publication; and 
(7) abuse of a conditionally privileged occasion. 42 Pa.C.S. § 8343(a).
	 Pennsylvania also recognizes the tort of concerted tortious conduct, which is essentially a civil 
aiding and abetting action. Sovereign Bank v. Valentino, 914 A.2d 415, 421 (Pa. Super. 2006). 
In this regard, “[o]ur Supreme Court adopted section 876 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts 
as the law of this Commonwealth.” Grimm v. Grimm, 149 A.3d 77, 88 (Pa. Super. 2016) (citing 
Skipworth by Williams v. Lead Industries Association, Inc., 690 A.2d 169, 174-175 (Pa. 1997)). 
Under Section 876 of the Restatement, one is liable for harm resulting to a third person from 
the tortious activity of another if he either: (1) does a tortious act in concert with the other or 
pursuant to a common design with him; (2) knows that the other’s conduct constitutes a breach 
of duty and gives substantial assistance or encouragement to the other so to conduct himself; 
or (3) gives substantial assistance to the other in accomplishing a tortious result and his own 
conduct, separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to the third person. Restatement 
(Second) of Torts § 876 (1979). “[C]oncerted tortious action requires the secondary actor to 
have knowledge of the primary actor’s tortious actions or the primary actor’s tortious act must 
be foreseeable to the secondary actor.” Marion v. Bryn Mawr Trust Co., 253 A.3d 682, 690  
(Pa. Super. 2021) (citation omitted), appeal granted in part, 264 A.3d 336 (Pa. 2021). 
	 Beginning with the challenge to Count II, Project Veritas and O’Keefe contend that 
Weisenbach has failed to adequately plead “the defamatory character of the communications 
in controversy and any third party understanding of it.” Memorandum of Law in Supp. 
of Prelim. Obj. of Project Veritas and James O’Keefe, III, p. 5. “A communication may 
be considered defamatory if it tends to harm the reputation of another so as to lower him 
or her in the estimation of the community or to deter third persons from associating or 
dealing with him or her.” Kuwait & Gulf Link Transport Co. v. Doe, 216 A.3d 1074, 1085  
(Pa. Super. 2019) (quoting Bell v. Mayview State Hosp., 853 A.2d 1058, 1062  
(Pa. Super. 2004)). “Further, in determining whether a statement is capable of defamatory 
meaning, a court must view the statement in context. The nature of the audience is a critical 
factor in determining whether a statement is capable of defamatory meaning.” Id. (citations 
omitted). Finally, [i]n determining whether a statement is capable of defamatory meaning, 
the trial court must also ascertain whether the statement constitutes an opinion … [as] 
generally, only statements of fact, rather than mere expressions of opinion, are actionable 
under Pennsylvania’s defamation law.” Id. at 1085-86 (citations omitted).
	 Neither can the procedural posture of this case be ignored. Precisely because the Court 
must accept as true all well-pleaded material allegations in the Amended Complaint, as well 
as all inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, Commonwealth v. Monsanto Co., 269 A.3d 

623, 635 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2021), “[w]hen ruling on preliminary objections in the nature of a 
demurrer, the question is whether a nondefamatory interpretation is the only reasonable one. 
Unless the court is certain the communication is incapable of bearing a defamatory meaning 
a demurrer challenging the sufficiency of the complaint should be overruled.” Zartman v. 
Lehigh County Humane Society, 482 A.2d 266, 269 (Pa. Super. 1984) (internal quotation 
marks, ellipsis, and brackets omitted; emphasis in original). “When the language is capable 
of both innocent and defamatory interpretations, it is for a jury to decide if the recipient 
understood the defamatory implications.” Menkowitz v. Peerless Publications, Inc., 211 
A.3d 797, 802 (Pa. 2019). 
	 Weisenbach points to numerous allegations in the Amended Complaint capable of 
defamatory meaning in paragraphs 39-75, 79-90, 108-118, and 163. Pl.’s Br. in Opp. to 
Prelim. Obj. of Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 8. Relative to the first story published 
on November 5, 2020, they include the reports that Weisenbach ordered ballots received from 
the fourth through the sixth be backdated to the third, that Hopkins overheard Weisenbach 
tell another supervisor that they “messed up” because they postmarked one of the ballots for 
the fourth, Hopkins’ statement that Weisenbach was upset because he was a “Trump hater,” 
and O’Keefe’s assertion that they had “multiple sources” for the story. Pl.’s Br. in Opp. to 
Prelim. Obj. of Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 6 (citing Am. Compl. ¶¶ 39-40, 45-46, 
& 48). Weisenbach further contends that the title of the story itself (“Nov. 3 Postmark Voter 
Fraud Scheme”) is defamatory, as are the hashtags and tweets used to promote the story, 
including “#MailFraud,” “BREAKING: Pennsylvania @USPS Whistleblower Exposes 
Anti-Trump Postmaster’s Illegal Order To Back-Date Ballots,” “@USPS workers are being 
ordered by their postmasters to ILLEGALLY BACK DATE ballots to November 3rd … 
THIS IS CORRUPTION,” and “The fraud is happening as we speak … they are going to be 
collecting and backdating ballots in Pennsylvania tomorrow according to our whistleblower.” 
Pl.’s Br. in Opp. to Prelim. Obj. of Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 6 (citing Am. Coml. 
¶¶ 41, 54, & Exs. 6, 27-29).
	 As for the second story published on November 6, 2020, Weisenbach argues that the 
interview and accompanying affidavit drafted by Project Veritas “contain many of the same 
defamatory statements,” including the allegations that Weisenbach and a supervisor discussed 
how they had backdated all but one of the ballots collected on November 4th, Hopkins’ 
attestation that Weisenbach had ordered him and his co-workers to continue to pick up ballots 
through Friday, November 6, 2020, and to give those ballots to Weisenbach “presumably 
so they could be backdated,” and O’Keefe’s amplification of the story through the hashtag 
“#BlackDateGate.” Pl.’s Br. in Opp. to Prelim. Obj. of Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, 
p. 6-7 (citing Am. Compl. ¶¶ 80, 82, 84). Finally, as to the third article and video published 
on November 11th, after Hopkins’ supposed recantation, Weisenbach notes that Project 
Veritas and O’Keefe reprised many of the same falsehoods, including the statements made 
in his original defamatory affidavit and O’Keefe’s remarks during the interview denying 
that Hopkins had recanted and vouching for his character. Pl.’s Br. in Opp. to Prelim. Obj. 
of Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 7 (citing Am. Compl. ¶¶ 96, 108-18, 113, 116).
	 On the whole, the Court agrees that the statements Weisenbach identifies are capable of 
defamatory meaning as a matter of law. While a few of the alleged statements, such as O’Keefe’s 
comment during the third interview that Hopkins “did not recant his story … despite the 
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incredible pressure for him to call himself a liar,” are arguably expressions of opinion,10 the 
lion’s share constitute concrete factual assertions which Weisenbach avers are simply untrue. 
This includes the central allegation underlying the stories: that Weisenbach illegally ordered the 
backdating of ballots received on November 4th, 5th, and 6th, so as to make it appear as though 
the ballots were received by election day. This also includes the allegation that Weisenbach 
was motivated to illegally backdate ballots out of a hatred for President Trump. Although an 
individual’s political preferences may be often kept private, this does not necessarily mean it 
is not “provable as false” such that it is a protected expression of opinion. Krajewski v. Gusoff, 
53 A.3d 793, 803 (Pa. Super. 2012) (quoting Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 17 
(1990)). Indeed, the Amended Complaint contains two pictures: one of Weisenbach holding a 
“Trump: Make America Great Again” flag and another of him wearing a “Trump 2020” face 
mask, evincing the provable falsity of Weisenbach’s supposed animosity toward President 
Trump. Am. Compl. ¶ 70. Thus, by and large, the defamatory statements alleged in the Amended 
Complaint do not consist of editorial commentary concerning supposed mail fraud at the Erie 
General Mail Facility or opinion as to the courageousness of the whistleblower, but provably 
false accusations levied against Weisenbach that he personally directed that mail-in ballots 
received through November 6, 2020, be backdated to the 3rd, and that he did so because he 
was a “Trump hater.”
	 Furthermore, the Amended Complaint sufficiently avers that the statements tended to harm 
Weisenbach’s reputation so as to lower him in the estimation of the community or to deter third 
parties from associating or dealing with him. The Amended Complaint alleges that the false 
publicity brought on by the publications resulted in an unknown assailant angrily confronting 
Weisenbach in his driveway, he and his wife having to leave Erie for a time to ensure their 
safety, and his wearing a face mask while running errands in the community, not merely to 
protect against COVID-19, but to obscure his face. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 125-38, 141. The Amended 
Complaint therefore alleges that he was exposed to hatred, contempt, and ridicule by virtue 
of his tarnished reputation. Tucker v. Philadelphia Daily News, 848 A.2d 113, 125 (Pa. 2004) 
(quoting Schnabel v. Meredith, 107 A.2d 860, 862 (Pa. 1954)). That is enough to survive a 
demurrer as to the defamatory character of the statements underlying Count II. 
	 Project Veritas and O’Keefe respond that the Weisenbach merely “offers speculation 
designed to punish Veritas’ reporting about the statements of a postal worker.” Memorandum 
of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 5. Similarly, they 
assert Weisenbach “fails to provide this Court with identifiable, actionable defamatory 
communications.” Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas 

   10  	Whether Hopkins, in fact, recanted his earlier allegations is hotly contested by the parties. Whether O’Keefe 
statement is capable of defamatory meaning, in turn, depends upon whether his statement was a “subjective 
interpretation, or opinion, of” this provable fact, Parano v. O’Connor, 641 A.2d 607, 609 (Pa. Super. 1994) 
(holding comments that plaintiff was “adversarial, less than helpful, and uncooperative” to be expressions of 
opinion), or alternatively, whether his statement was an opinion based upon his subjective misunderstanding of 
the facts. Kuwait, 216 A.3d at 1087 (holding legal opinion based on misunderstanding of the facts is not itself 
sufficient for an action of defamation, “no matter how unjustified and unreasonable the opinion may be or how 
derogatory it is.” (citations and internal quotation marks omitted)). Moreover, in limited circumstances, “[a] 
defamatory communication may consist of a statement in the form of an opinion, but a statement of this nature 
is actionable only if it implies the allegation of undisclosed defamatory facts as the basis for the opinion.” Id. 
at 1086 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 566). Given the Court’s finding that the vast majority of the 
allegations do not constitute expressions of opinion, it is not necessary to decide whether O’Keefe’s statement is 
properly characterized as an expression of opinion, or if so, whether it may be reasonably inferred from the face 
of the pleading that O’Keefe was aware of any undisclosed facts concerning Hopkins’ supposed recantation. 

   11  	As the parties appear to use that term, “a communication which ascribes to another conduct, character, or 
a condition that would adversely affect his fitness for the proper conduct of his business, trade, or profession, is 
defamatory per se.” Pelagatti v. Cohen, 536 A.2d 1337, 1345 (Pa. Super. 1987); but see Agriss v. Roadway Express, 
Inc., 483 A.2d 456, 469 (Pa. Super. 1984) (abandoning distinction for purposes of actionability between libels 
which are defamatory on their face and libels which are defamatory through extrinsic facts and circumstances) 
(“The import of ‘per se’ in a defamation case is a problem that has kept Pennsylvania courts going in circles for 
generations … nowadays ‘per se’ is used so inconsistently and incoherently in the defamation context that any 
lawyer or judge about to use it should pause and replace it with the English words it is intended to stand for.”). 

and O’Keefe, p. 9. But as just explained, the crux of Weisenbach’s case centers around the 
allegations that Project Veritas published (and then republished twice over) false claims that 
he ordered the backdating of mail-in ballots and that he did so because he was a “Trump 
hater.” Weisenbach’s vigorous averments in this regard do not waiver on the precipice of 
mere speculation.
	 They similarly contend that the “closest specification of an allegedly defamatory 
communication” is found in paragraph 37, which avers that beginning November 4, 2020, 
Project Veritas and O’Keefe “began to press a narrative” that “USPS workers were backdating 
ballots in order to sway the election to former Vice President Biden.” Memorandum of Law 
in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 5-6; Am. Compl. ¶ 37. But 
they insist that “a discussion about backdating ballots … is precisely what Richard Hopkins 
overheard and then communicated to Project Veritas.” Memorandum of Law in Supp. of 
Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 6. They argue that “[a]s responsible 
journalists” they were entitled to “take a reasoned assessment of the facts they have collected 
and pronounce their opinion about it.” Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by 
Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 6. But as the Court has explained, while portions of the 
published stories may contain editorial elements, the core of Weisenbach’s claim rests upon 
Project Veritas and O’Keefe’s reporting and amplification of allegedly false facts, namely, 
that Weisenbach ordered the backdating of mail-in ballots and that he was a “Trump hater.”  
Drawing all reasonable inferences from the Amended Complaint in Weisenbach’s favor, 
that reporting was not couched as opinion, but as unadorned fact.
	 Likewise, Project Veritas and O’Keefe argue that the Amended Complaint fails to 
sufficiently allege an action for defamation per se because the statements made by them 
concerning fraud or backdating are protected statements of conversational meaning, properly 
characterized as opinion or hyperbole, such as when someone identifies an excessive charge as 
“fraud” or “extortion.” Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas 
and O’Keefe, p. 6-7.11 But once again, this argument obfuscates the distinction between a 
journalist’s reporting of facts and his or her expressions of opinion concerning those facts.  
And once again, Project Veritas and O’Keefe fail to draw all reasonable inferences from 
the Amended Complaint in Weisenbach’s favor, as the Court must. When the averments are 
read in that light, it becomes clear that Weisenbach alleges that Project Veritas was not using 
figurative language when it accused Weisenbach of orchestrating a voter fraud scheme.
	 At oral argument, counsel for Project Veritas and O’Keefe noted that some courts in 
defamation cases have held that posts on social media are more likely to include hyperbolic 
or “loose figurative language” as opposed to literal “criminal imputation.” Tr. p. 56. This is in 
keeping with longstanding admonitions that “in determining whether a statement is capable 
of defamatory meaning, a court must view the statement in context” and “[t]he nature of 
the audience is a critical factor in determining whether a statement is capable of defamatory 
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meaning.” Kuwait, 216 A.3d at 1085. That statements made on Facebook or Twitter are 
more likely to be exaggerated than those in the New England Journal of Medicine should 
come as a surprise to no one, but at the risk of sounding monotonous, Project Veritas and 
O’Keefe’s reliance on context overlooks the fact that at this stage the Court must confine its 
analysis to the averments in the Amended Complaint, drawing all reasonable inferences in 
Weisenbach’s favor. Read in that context, the claims of voter fraud in the stories, and even 
in the social media posts, are properly characterized as literal factual allegations, not loose 
figurative language. 
	 Finally, Project Veritas and O’Keefe maintain that Wiesenbach misunderstands the 
Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision in Pennsylvania Democratic Party v. Boockvar, 238 
A.3d 345 (Sept. 17, Pa. 2020) to mean that ballots postmarked by November 6, 2020, “were 
legally cast and required to be counted” when in reality that decision “merely permitted a 
three-day extension of the received-by deadline solely to allow for the tabulation of ballots” 
postmarked by 8:00 p.m. on November 3, 2020. Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Prelim. 
Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 8 (quoting Am. Compl. ¶¶ 88-90; citing 
Boockvar, 238 A.3d at 371-72). This fact, they claim, refutes Weisenbach’s assertion in 
Paragraph 90 of the Amended Complaint that they “knew or had reason to know that any 
reports of ballot segregation expressly comported with Pennsylvania law.” Memorandum 
of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 9 (quoting Am. 
Compl. ¶ 90). Rather, they assert that precisely because the Boockvar decision did not allow 
for the backdating of ballots, O’Keefe could reasonably reach the conclusion that “something 
illegal” or “something shady” was afoot that warranted further discussion. Tr., p. 70.
	 While it is true that the Amended Complaint appears to misconstrue the holding in Boockvar, 
and while the Boockvar decision certainly did not condone mail-in ballot backdating, subsequent 
guidance issued by the Pennsylvania Department of State did require the segregation of ballots 
as the United States Supreme Court’s November 6, 2020, Order in the then-pending appeal 
made clear. See Republican Party of Pennsylvania. v. Boockvar, --- S.Ct. ---, 2020 WL 6536912 
(Mem.) (U.S. Nov. 6, 2020) (Alito, J., in chambers) (“All county boards of election [are] hereby 
ordered, pending further order of the Court, to comply with the following guidance provided 
by the Secretary of the Commonwealth on October 28 and November 1, namely: (1) that all 
ballots received by mail after 8:00 p.m. on November 3 be segregated and kept in a secure, 
safe and sealed container separate from other voted ballots; and (2) that all such ballots, if 
counted, be counted separately.” (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)).  
	 Thus, by virtue of the Boockvar case and the resulting guidance from the Pennsylvania 
Department of State, the central thrust of the averment in Paragraph 90 remains plausible: 
that O’Keefe knew or had reason to know that the ballot segregation procedures described by 
Hopkins complied with Pennsylvania law. And while a factfinder may ultimately conclude 
that, these legal developments notwithstanding, O’Keefe legitimately believed something 
nefarious was happening at the Erie General Mail Facility based on Hopkins’ statements, a 
factfinder may just as easily reach the opposite conclusion. 
	 We are not at the factfinding stage yet however. “When ruling on a demurrer, a court 
must confine its analysis to the complaint.” Monsanto, 269 A.3d at 635 (emphasis omitted). 
Drawing all reasonable inferences in Weisenbach’s favor, the publicly-known ballot segregation 
procedures should have given pause to O’Keefe before publishing the stories. On the other 

hand, any claim that O’Keefe was not aware of the ballot segregation procedures does not 
necessarily help him either as it could tend to show that he and the Project Veritas team failed 
to do their due diligence in investigating mail-in ballot collection procedures. Moreover, (and 
perhaps most importantly) even if the Court were to disregard Paragraphs 88 through 90 in 
light of Weisenbach’s misunderstanding concerning the Boockvar decision, there is still ample 
factual averments to support his claims of defamation in the remaining 204 paragraphs of 
the Amended Complaint. As such, Project Veritas and O’Keefe’s reliance on Weisenbach’s 
misstatement of the Boockvar decision is not enough to sustain their demurrer. Likewise, 
the Court rejects Project Veritas and O’Keefe’s suggestion that the misstatement impacts the 
sufficiency of the Amended Complaint. Tr., pp. 70-71.
	 That leaves Project Veritas and O’keefe’s demurrer as to Count III, relating to concerted 
tortious activity. In large part, their demurrer rests on the same arguments as in Count II. See 
Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 16 
(“For the same reasons that Weisenbach’s claim of defamation fails, so too does his claim 
of substantial assistance.”). In turn, for the same reasons that Project Veritas and O’Keefe’s 
challenge to Count II fails, so too does their challenge to Count III. The Court briefly pauses 
to address a challenge to Count III not addressed elsewhere in this Opinion. Project Veritas 
and O’Keefe argue that “[w]here news publishers publish the accounts of an insider and play 
no part in any illegal interception of material, they are immune from claims raised against 
the inside source.” Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas 
and O’Keefe, p. 16 (citing Bartnicki v. Vopper, 532 U.S. 514, 525 (2001)). They contend 
that the Amended Complaint merely “suggests a loose conspiracy between Hopkins, Veritas, 
and O’Keefe to defame him, but nowhere alleges any facts to show that Veritas or O’Keefe 
defamed Weisenbach or induced Hopkins to defame him.” Memorandum of Law in Supp. 
of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 16.
	 This is simply not an accurate description of the factual allegations in the Amended 
Complaint. Weisenbach ardently avers that Project Veritas and O’Keefe defamed him by 
publishing the November 5th, November 6th, and November 11th stories. They further allege, 
as part of its Diamond Dog initiative, that Project Veritas “solicited” Hopkins’ account. Am. 
Compl. ¶ 74. While Project Veritas may dispute this averment, the Court must accept it as 
true at this juncture. Furthermore, Count III indicates a laundry list of ways in which Project 
Veritas and O’Keefe substantially assisted Hopkins, including through encouragement to come 
forward, the drafting of the affidavit, instructions on how to profit from the crowdfunding 
account, keeping lawyers on retainer to defend Hopkins, and consulting with Hopkins on a 
daily basis, all with the common goal of defaming Weisenbach. Am. Compl. ¶ 202. In short, 
Count III sufficiently alleges that all three Defendants aided or abetted each other in a tortious 
scheme to defame Weisenbach, Valentino, 914 A.2d at 421, and that they did so with knowledge 
of each other’s tortious conduct, or at the very least, that the other Defendants’ tortious acts 
were reasonably foreseeable. Bryn Mawr Trust Co., 253 A.3d at 690. 
	 As such, this is not an inside source case. See Bartnicki, 532 U.S. at 525. (“First, respondents 
played no part in the illegal interception. Rather, they found out about the interception only 
after it occurred, and in fact never learned the identity of the person or persons who made 
the interception. Second, their access to the information on the tapes was obtained lawfully, 
even though the information itself was intercepted unlawfully by someone else.”). Here, it 
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is not alleged that Project Veritas published information that was illegally intercepted by an 
inside source. Rather, Weisenbach alleges that both Project Veritas and Hopkins engaged in 
concerted “character assassination” against him with the larger aim of “undermining public 
faith in the United States Postal Service and the results of the 2020 Presidential election.” 
Am. Compl. ¶ 10. Project Veritas and O’Keefe’s reliance on this line of cases is therefore 
misguided. 
	 Accordingly, the demurrer as to Count III is overruled. As to Project Veritas and O’Keefe’s 
demurrer as to Count II (as well as Hopkins’ demurrer as to Count I), all that remains to be 
adjudicated is the Defendants’ claims that the First Amendment bars recovery under the facts 
alleged pursuant to the “rigorous, if not impossible,” to satisfy actual malice standard, applicable 
to defamation actions brought by public officials. Manning v. WPXI, 886 A.2d 1137, 1144  
(Pa. Super. 2005). This presents a closer question than the challenges considered thus far.  

IV. DEMURRER: ACTUAL MALICE
	 The First Amendment to the United States Constitution, applicable to the states through the 
Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, provides, in relevant part, that “Congress 
shall make no law … abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press[.]” U.S. CONST. 
amend. 1. “At the founding, the freedom of the press generally meant the government could 
not impose prior restraints preventing individuals from publishing what they wished. But none 
of that meant publishers could defame people, ruining careers or lives, without consequence. 
Rather, those exercising the freedom of the press had a responsibility to try to get the facts 
right — or, like anyone else, answer in tort for the injuries they caused.” Berisha v. Lawson, 
141 S.Ct. 2424, 2426 (2021) (Gorsuch, J., dissenting from denial of certiorari). “This was 
the accepted view in this Nation for more than two centuries.” Id. (quoting Herbert v. Lando, 
441 U.S. 153 (1979) (internal quotation marks and brackets omitted). 
	 The legal landscape changed dramatically in the 1960s when the United States Supreme 
Court decided New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964). There, the Court held 
that the First Amendment to the United States Constitution “prohibits a public official from 
recovering damages for a defamatory falsehood relating to his official conduct unless he 
proves that the statement was made with actual malice — that is, with knowledge that it 
was false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false or not.” Id. at 279-80 (internal 
quotation marks omitted). The Court reasoned that a tort regime “compelling the critic of 
official conduct to guarantee the truth of all his factual assertions — and to do so on pain 
of libel judgments virtually unlimited in amount — leads to a comparable self-censorship.” 
Id. at 279 (internal quotation marks omitted). “Under such a rule,” the Court continued, 
“would-be critics of official conduct may be deterred from voicing their criticism, even 
though it is believed to be true and even though it is in fact true, because of doubt whether 
it can be proved in court or fear of the expense of having to do so.” Id. Such a standard 
“dampens the vigor and limits the variety of public debate” and therefore “is inconsistent 
with the First and Fourteenth Amendments.” Id. 
	 The decision rests upon “the principle that debate on public issues should be uninhibited, 
robust, and wide-open,” Id. at 270, and that “[o]ur profound national commitment to the 
free exchange of ideas, as enshrined in the First Amendment, demands that the law of libel 
carve out an area of breathing space so that protected speech is not discouraged.” Harte-
Hanks Communications Inc., v. Connaughton, 491 U.S. 657, 686 (1989) (citations and 

internal quotation marks omitted). In order to prevent a chilling effect on protected speech, 
it is consequently necessary to tolerate “vehement, caustic, and sometimes unpleasantly 
sharp attacks on government and public officials.” New York Times, 376 U.S. at 270. The 
upshot is that New York Times and its progeny extends “a measure of strategic protection to 
defamatory falsehood.” Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 342 (1974). 
	 Here, the parties contest whether Weisenbach is a public official for purposes of the 
New York Times actual malice standard.12 Defendants can identify only two relevant cases, 
neither of which are binding on this Court, and one of which predates New York Times itself. 
See Knipe v. Procher, 75 Pa. D. & C. 420, 421 (Montgomery Co. 1950) (Forrest, J.) (“A 
postmaster is a public official and as such is bound to exercise his judgment for the public 
benefit[.]”); Silbowitz v. Lepper, 32 A.D.2d 520, 299 N.Y.S.2d 564 (N.Y. App. Div. 1969) 
(“the plaintiff, a supervisor and senior administrator of the Peck Slip Station of the City of 
New York Post Office Department, is to be considered a public official within the purview 
of the New York Times Co. v. Sullivan[.]”). In any event, the Court need not decide today 
whether Weisenbach is a public official for purposes of New York Times v. Sullivan because 
even assuming, without deciding, that he is, the Court holds that Weisenbach has sufficiently 
plead actual malice on the part of all Defendants.13

	 Actual malice, and in particular, its reckless disregard component, “cannot be fully 
encompassed in one infallible definition.” St. Amant v. Thompson, 390 U.S. 727, 730 (1968). 
It does not mean “ill will or malice in the ordinary sense of the term,” and so, cannot be 
shown simply “by virtue of the fact the media defendant published the material to increase 
its profits, or the failure to investigate before publishing, even when a reasonably prudent 
person would have done so, although the purposeful avoidance of the truth is in a different 
category.” Joseph v. Scranton Times, L.P., 129 A.3d 404, 436-37 (Pa. 2015) (citing Harte-
Hanks, 491 U.S. at 666-92). “Rather, actual malice requires at a minimum that statements 
were made with a reckless disregard for the truth. That is, the defendant must have made 
the false publication with a high degree of awareness of probable falsity, or must have 
entertained serious doubts as to the truth of his publication.” Id. at 437 (citations, internal 
quotation marks, brackets, and ellipsis omitted).
	 In this case, Weisenbach points to three categories of averments in the Amended Complaint 

   12  	Even if he is not a public official, Project Veritas and O’Keefe alternatively claim Weisenbach is a limited 
purpose public figure — another category of plaintiff subject to the actual malice standard — because he 
voluntarily injected himself into the controversy by accepting the job of postmaster. Prelim. Obj. of Def.s’ Project 
Veritas and James O’Keefe, III, ¶ 19 (citing American Future Systems, Inc. v. Better Business Bureau of Eastern 
Pennsylvania, 923 A.2d 389 (Pa. 2007)); Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. of Defs. Project Veritas 
and O’Keefe, p. 11; Tr., pp. 75-76. The Court does not reach this argument.
   13  	Weisenbach argues that he is not required to aver facts in support of his allegation that the Defendants acted 
with actual malice because actual malice is a state of mind, which under Pa.R.C.P. 1019(b), may be pled generally. 
Tr., p. 90. Because the Court nonetheless finds that Weisenbach has pled sufficient facts to support his contention 
of actual malice as to all Defendants, the Court need not address this argument. The Court observes, however, that 
appellate courts in the federal system, another fact-pleading jurisdiction, appear to have overwhelmingly rejected 
Weisenbach’s position. See Pippen v. NBCUniversal Media, LLC, 734 F.3d 610, 614 (7th Cir. 2013) (“States of 
mind may be pleaded generally, but a plaintiff still must point to details sufficient to render a claim plausible.”); 
Biro v. Conde Nast, 807 F.3d 541 (2nd Cir. 2015) (“a public-figure plaintiff must plead plausible grounds to infer 
actual malice by alleging enough facts to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence of” 
actual malice.”) (citation, internal quotation marks, and brackets omitted); Michel v. NYP Holdings, Inc., 816 F.3d 
686 (11th Cir. 2016) (noting “after Iqbal and Twombly, every circuit that has considered the matter has applied the 
Iqbal/Twombly standard and held that a defamation suit may be dismissed for failure to state a claim where the 
plaintiff has not pled facts sufficient to give rise to a reasonable inference of actual malice.”). 
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which he argues lead to the conclusion that Project Veritas and O’Keefe acted with actual 
malice: (1) fabrication and serious doubts as to the truth; (2) intentional avoidance of the 
truth and inherent improbability; and (3) preconceived narrative and ulterior motive. Pl.’s 
Br. in Opp. to Prelim. Obj. of Defs. Project Veritas and O’Keefe, pp. 12-22. In a similar vein, 
Weisenbach offers three categories of averments which he suggests lead to the conclusion 
that Hopkins acted with actual malice: (1) fabrication and serious doubts as to the truth;  
(2) intentional avoidance of the truth; and (3) financial motive. Pl.’s Br. in Opp. to Prelim. Obj. 
of Def. Hopkins, pp. 5-13. Weisenbach submits that even if none of these factors, standing 
alone, would be sufficient to establish actual malice by clear and convincing evidence,14 the 
totality of these factors would be. Tr., pp. 118-19. The Court agrees. 
	 Beginning with Project Veritas and O’Keefe, Weisenbach avers that the media Defendants 
took a tendentious approach with Hopkins, drafting his affidavit, encouraging him to solicit 
donations, helping him set up crowdsourcing accounts, flying him to New York for an 
interview, and retaining legal counsel on his behalf. Am. Coml. ¶¶ 83, 97, 100, 202; see also 
US Dominion, Inc., v. Powell, 554 F.Supp.3d 42, 60 (D.D.C. 2021) (“there is no rule that a 
defendant cannot act in reckless disregard of the truth when relying on sworn affidavits — 
especially sworn affidavits that the defendant had a role in creating.”). They falsely stated 
in their first story that they had “multiple sources” to corroborate Hopkins’ claims. Am. 
Coml. ¶ 48. Later, after reviewing the recording where Hopkins stated “I didn’t specifically 
hear the whole story. I just heard part of it. And I could have missed a lot of it. … My mind 
probably added the rest[,]” Am. Coml. ¶ 96, they doubled down and republished the allegedly 
defamatory statements. Am. Coml. ¶¶ 108-18. Even after the Postal Service Inspector General 
issued a final report on February 3, 2021, concluding there was “no evidence” to support 
Hopkins claims, Project Veritas refused to retract their story. Am. Coml. ¶¶ 149, 154; see 
also Castellani, 124 A.3d at 1242 (“the existence of actual malice may be shown in many 
ways, including [by] direct or circumstantial competent evidence of prior or subsequent 

   14  	Hopkins and Weisenbach dispute whether a plaintiff must plead actual malice by clear and convincing 
evidence at this stage. Hopkins cites to Tucker, which considered in the context of a demurrer on motion for 
judgment on the pleadings “whether a reasonable jury could conclude by clear and convincing evidence that 
Appellant-newspapers printed statements they knew were false or printed them with reckless disregard of their 
falsity.” Tucker, 848 A.2d at 131. Our intermediate appellate courts, relying on Tucker, have arrived at the same 
conclusion as Hopkins. See Jones v. City of Philadelphia, 893 A.2d 837, 844 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2006) (“A plaintiff 
must plead sufficient facts such that a jury could eventually conclude, by clear and convincing evidence, that the 
statements at issue were false.”). Weisenbach argues that a later case, Weaver v. Lancaster Newspapers, Inc., 926 
A.2d 899, 905 (Pa. 2007), “disavow[s] th[e] notion that this heightened clear and convincing standard should 
apply before a jury trial.” Tr. pp. 147-48. Weaver, however, merely clarified that an “independent review of 
evidence,” as required under United States Supreme Court precedent, is “an assessment made by appellate courts 
only after the jury has made findings of fact,” and so, was inapplicable in the context of a motion for summary 
judgment. Weaver, 926 A.2d at 908 (emphasis in original). It did not address a pleading standard, as the Court did 
in Tucker.
	 To be sure, a party opposing demurrer need not present any evidence; he or she simply must point to sufficient 
factual allegations in the pleading. But because a plaintiff must ultimately prove actual malice by clear and 
convincing evidence at trial, it naturally follows that a plaintiff must plead sufficient facts in a complaint, which, 
if credited by a factfinder, could ultimately satisfy that heightened evidentiary standard. See Biro v. Conde Nast, 
963 F.Supp.2d 255, 288 (S.D. N.Y. 2013) (“missing from the complaint are any factual allegations suggesting that 
Biro could plausibly demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the New Yorker Defendants published the 
four allegedly defamatory statements with actual malice[.]”). This is of particular importance in the actual malice 
context where some evidence, standing alone, (such as the failure to investigate or an ulterior motive to publish) 
may not be sufficient, yet, may nonetheless be relevant to determining whether a defendant purposely avoided the 
truth. Harte-Hanks, 491 U.S. at 692. Thus, in order to survive demurrer, Weisenbach must show that he has pled 
sufficient facts such that a jury could eventually conclude, by clear and convincing evidence, that the statements 
at issue were made or published with actual malice. Jones, 893 A.2d at 844. 

defamations, and subsequent statements of the defendant” and “republications, retractions, 
and refusals to retract are similar in that they are subsequent acts which can be relevant 
to the determination of previous states of mind.” (quoting Herbert, 441 U.S. at 164 n. 12 
and Weaver, 926 A.2d at 906)). Taken together, these facts, if ultimately proven, could be 
credited as circumstantial evidence that Project Veritas and O’Keefe fabricated evidence to 
bolster their story, or at least harbored serious doubts as to the truth of Hopkins’ claims. 
	 Similarly, there are facts in the Amended Complaint tending to show that Project Veritas 
and O’Keefe may have intentionally avoided the truth in light of the inherent improbability of 
the claims, particularly after it appeared that Hopkins backed down from some of his earlier 
allegations in his November 9th interview with postal inspectors. Weisenbach maintains 
that “[a]t that point, there were indisputably obvious reasons to doubt the veracity of the 
informant or the accuracy of his reports.” Pl.’s Br. in Opp. to Prelim. Obj. of Defs. Project 
Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 18 (quoting Norton v. Glenn, 860 A.2d 48, 55 (Pa. 2004) (internal 
quotation marks omitted)). Drawing all reasonable inferences in Weisenbach’s favor, the 
Court cannot say that this averment does not support Weisenbach’s claim that Project Veritas 
and O’Keefe’s decision to publish the third story was the “product of a deliberate decision 
not to acquire knowledge of facts that might confirm the probable falsity of [Hopkins’] 
charges.” Harte-Hanks, 491 U.S. at 692.
	 Additionally, the Court agrees that Weisenbach provides sufficient averments in his 
Amended Complaint to show that Project Veritas and O’Keefe had an ulterior motive for 
publishing the stories. Specifically, it is alleged that Project Veritas was engaged in an initiative 
codenamed “Diamond Dog” to “erode confidence in the security of mail-in voting[.]” Am. 
Coml. ¶ 24. This included the publishing of stories purporting to document instances of 
illegal “ballot harvesting.” Am. Coml. ¶ 25. It is suggested in the Amended Complaint 
that the aspersions cast upon mail-in voting systems by these stories would ultimately lend 
credibility to later allegations of voter fraud in the event of a “Red-Mirage” during the 2020 
presidential election. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 27-28. Even more telling, Weisenbach avers that Project 
Veritas and O’Keefe specifically solicited Hopkins and others to come forward with claims 
of voter fraud. Am. Compl. ¶ 74. And while Project Veritas and O’Keefe vehemently dispute 
these allegations, the Court must accept all well-pleaded facts as true for purposes of this 
demurrer. Monsanto, 269 A.3d at 635. Such “evidence that a defendant conceived a story line 
in advance of an investigation and then consciously set out to make the evidence conform to 
the preconceived story is evidence of actual malice, and may often prove to be quite powerful 
evidence.” Harris v. City of Seattle, 152 Fed. App’x. 565, 568 (9th Cir. 2005) (unpublished) 
(quoting RODNEY A. SMOLLA, 1 LAW OF DEFAMATION, § 3:71 (2005)). 
	 Accepting all of these averments as true — the specific allegations pertaining to fabrication 
and the doubts Project Veritas and O’Keefe entertained as to the veracity of Hopkins’ claims; 
the averments suggesting they deliberately avoided the truth by failing to further investigate 
Hopkins’ claims, especially after he admitted to postal inspectors his claims were largely the 
product of his imagination; and the averments suggesting an ulterior motive for publishing 
the story — Weisenbach has pled sufficient facts such that a jury could eventually conclude 
by clear and convincing evidence that the alleged defamatory statements were published 
with actual malice.
	 Project Veritas and O’Keefe stress that the failure to investigate alone is not enough to 
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show actual malice, Tr., pp. 48, 60, 78, and on this point they are correct. See McCafferty 
v. Newsweek Media Group, Ltd., 955 F.3d 352, 359 (3rd Cir. 2020) (“even an extreme 
departure from professional standards, without more, will not support a finding of actual 
malice.” (quoting Tucker v. Fischbein, 237 F.3d 275, 286 (3d Cir. 2001) (Alito, J.))). But 
precisely because “[a]ctual malice focuses on the defendant’s attitude towards the truth,” 
DeMary v. Latrobe Printing and Publishing Co., 762 A.2d 758, 764 (Pa. Super. 2000), “a 
plaintiff is entitled to prove the defendant’s state of mind through circumstantial evidence, 
and it cannot be said that evidence concerning motive or care never bears any relation to the 
actual malice inquiry.” Harte-Hanks, 491 U.S. at 668 (citations omitted). Thus, it cannot be 
said that the averments concerning the care exercised by Project Veritas in investigating the 
claims are irrelevant to the actual malice inquiry.
	 As Project Veritas and O’Keefe concede, the case law they reference merely stands for 
the proposition that the “failure to investigate doesn’t meet the actual malice standard … 
[b]y itself.” Tr. p. 78. Here, Weisenbach avers far more than the mere failure to adequately 
investigate. He alleges that Project Veritas and O’Keefe fabricated evidence, that they must 
have harbored serious doubts as to the veracity of Hopkins’ claims in light of their inherent 
improbability, and that they had an ulterior motive for publishing the stories. Weisenbach’s 
additional allegation that Project Veritas and O’Keefe deliberately avoided the truth by 
failing to further investigate Hopkins’ claims is but one piece in a mosaic of averments, 
which together, constitute his case for actual malice. See Gilmore v. Jones, 370 F.Supp.3d 
630, 673 (W.D. Va. 2019) (“Although neither the pursuit of a preconceived narrative nor 
a failure to observe journalistic standards is alone ultimately enough to establish actual 
malice, Gilmore’s factual allegations, taken together, are sufficiently plausible to support 
an inference that Creighton published statements about him with actual malice.”). Taken 
together, the totality of the averments in Weisenbach’s Amended Complaint support the 
conclusion that Project Veritas and O’Keefe acted with actual malice. Project Veritas and 
O’Keefe would read the averments in piecemeal to determine if they individually constitute 
evidence of actual malice, but such a myopic approach to analyzing a pleading on demurrer 
is inconsistent with Pennsylvania case law, which confirms that complaints must be read 
“as a whole[.]” Village of Camelback Property Owners Association, Inc. v. Carr, 538 A.2d 
528, 464, 465 (Pa. Super. 1988).  
	 Project Veritas and O’Keefe also assert that Weisenbach’s theory of actual malice is 
contradicted by some of its other averments, including the fact that they attempted to interview 
Weisenbach as the events unfolded and the fact that they candidly published Hopkins’ 
recording of his interview with postal inspectors where he allegedly recanted. Prelim. Obj. 
of Defs. Project Veritas and James O’Keefe, III, ¶¶ 27-28. It is true that while the Court must 
draw all reasonable inferences in Weisenbach’s favor, it must nonetheless evaluate the entire 
pleading, including those averments which are not necessarily favorable to Weisenbach. See 
Commonwealth v. Chambers, 188 A.3d 400, 412 n.7 (Pa. 2018) (“Although our standard of 
review requires us to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the Commonwealth as 
verdict winner, we are required as well to consider and evaluate the entire record, including 
those facts at trial that do not fall in the Commonwealth’s favor.”). But in this case, whether 
the supposed contradictions identified by Project Veritas and O’Keefe actually do contradict 
other averments largely depends upon one’s perspective.

	 Weisenbach’s perspective is that those contradictory events are not as Project Veritas and 
O’Keefe would make them out to be. For instance, as to the recording posted by Project 
Veritas, Weisenbach alleges that roughly one hour of audio is missing, begging the question 
“what happened to the other sixty-plus (60+) minutes of audio?” Am. Compl., ¶ 95. Likewise, 
Weisenbach does not view the fact that his brief denial of the claims was included in the first 
video as a saving grace for the media Defendants since he was simultaneously being portrayed 
as the perpetrator of an “invidious election fraud scheme[,]” Am. Compl. ¶ 40, suggesting 
to viewers that his denial was not credible. Because the supposedly conflicting averments 
are susceptible to an interpretation that comports with Weisenbach’s other averments, the 
Court must accept this version of events on demurrer.  
	 Project Veritas and O’Keefe also emphasize that “in the heat of an election” their reporting 
“had to be done quickly.” Memorandum of Law in Supp. of Prelim. Obj. by Defs. Project 
Veritas and O’Keefe, p. 6. They contend that these facts present something of a “unique 
situation” where trying to find sources wiling to corroborate Hopkins’ testimony in a 12 to 
16-hour period would have been extremely difficult. Tr. pp. 50-51. While this narrative, if 
credited, may be sufficient to show that Project Veritas and O’Keefe did not act with reckless 
disregard for the truth, it is not the narrative detailed in the Amended Complaint, which is 
the only one that matters for present purposes.  
	 The case against Hopkins is more straightforward. His decision to come forward to Project 
Veritas with claims of an illegal backdating scheme when he later admitted that he “could 
have missed a lot” of the conversation and that his “mind probably added the rest[,]” itself, 
is enough to suggest he entertained serious doubts as to the truth of his claims. Am. Coml. 
¶ 96. Moreover, nowhere in the Amended Complaint is it alleged that Hopkins attempted 
to corroborate or verify whether Weisenbach had ordered the backdating of mail-in ballots 
either with coworkers or his supervisors, from which it could be reasonably inferred that he 
was intentionally avoiding the truth. Finally, Weisenbach has pled the existence of a financial 
motive to becoming a “whistleblower” based upon the significant windfall he stood to gain 
from crowdfunding sources set up with the help of Project Veritas. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 143-48. 
These are sufficient facts from which a reasonable factfinder could conclude by clear and 
convincing evidence that Hopkins acted with actual malice when he made the allegedly 
defamatory statements. 
	 Hopkins argues that certain averments in the Amended Complaint — in particular the 
allegation that Hopkins recanted his earlier claims during his November 9, 2020, interview 
with postal inspectors and the allegation that he never confided what he believed he had heard 
to another coworker — are belied by the attachments and links referenced in the Amended 
Complaint. Hopkins’ Reply Br., pp. 4-11. Most notably, Hopkins argues that the link to the 
recording Hopkins made of his interview with postal inspectors reveals that he was “putting 
two and two together” based on directions he received to continue collecting mail-in ballots, 
which he honestly believed was illegal. Hopkins’ Reply Br., p. 6 (citing Am. Compl. ¶95, 
n.25, at 46:45-47:04). This good-faith mistake, he asserts, does not amount to actual malice. 
Hopkins’ Reply Br., p. 6. He also points to portions of the interview where he states that he 
communicated what he heard to a coworker named Zonya, who referred him to “a different 
person to contact,” although he was “already thinking Project Veritas because [he had] heard 
about them.” Hopkins Reply Br., p. 9 (citing Am. Compl. ¶ 95 n. 25 at 1:00:52-1:01:25).  
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Based on these comments made during the course of the interview, Hopkins argues that 
“[w]hile it is true that in considering a demurrer to preliminary objections, all well-pleaded 
allegations must be accepted as true, a court is not bound to accept as true any averments in 
a complaint which are in conflict with exhibits attached to it.” Tr., p. 32 (quoting Baravordeh 
v. Borough Council of Prospect Park, 699 A.2d 789, 791 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1997)). 
	 The rule referenced by Hopkins has its origins in the area of contract disputes, but even 
the earliest cases espousing the principle recognized it applies only in a particular subset of 
cases, namely those “where the contention arises solely upon the meaning of the indenture 
in its bearing upon the contract, and that must be ascertained by applying to its language 
the ordinary rules of interpretation.” Kaufmann v. Kaufmann, 70 A. 956, 958 (Pa. 1909) 
(quoting Dillon v. Barnard, 88 U.S. 430, 437 (1874)). This is in contrast, for example, 
to cases involving “a bill to set aside or reform the contract as not expressing the actual 
intention of the parties.” Id.15 The question of whether a particular statement is probative of 
actual malice is more analogous to this latter scenario dealing with the intent of the parties 
because an evaluation of actual malice necessarily involves an inquiry into an individual’s 
“subjective awareness of probable falsity[.]” Gertz, 418 U.S. at 335 n. 6.  
	 The precedents cited by Hopkins in support of the rule’s application in this case all appear 
related to written documents, which on their face, directly refuted averments in a pleading, 
as do the other cases encountered by the Court during the course of its own research. See 
Baravordeh, 699 A.2d at 79 (“the Resolution, on its face, states otherwise.”); Framlau 
Corp. v. Delaware County, 299 A.2d 335, 338 (Pa. Super. 1972) (“Where any inconsistency 
exists between the allegations of a complaint and a written instrument, to-wit, the contract 
documents in this case, the latter will prevail[.]”); Schuylkill Products, Inc., v. H. Rupert & 
Sons, Inc., 451 A.2d 229, 233 (Pa. Super. 1982) (performance bond); see also Lawrence v. 
Pennsylvania Department of Corrections, 941 A.2d 70, 73 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2007) (sentencing 
order); Philmar Mid-Atlantic, Inc., v York Street Associates II, 566 A.2d 1253, 1254  
(Pa. Super. 1989) (letter of intent); Cohen v. Carol, 35 A.2d 92, 93 (Pa. Super. 1943) (letter 
in lieu of formal agreement of sale).  
	 The linked attachment here is of a different ilk. It consists not of a written legal instrument 
or formal declaration, but a lengthy interview, sometimes adversarial in nature, concerning 
a contested series of events. It is thus more akin to testimony than a typical documentary 
exhibit. Accepting Hopkins’ invitation to consider the recording, which more resembles 
testimony given at a deposition, would imbue these Preliminary Objections with the flavor 
of summary judgment. In that distinct procedural context, however, it is well-established 
in this Commonwealth that “[t]estimonial affidavits of the moving party or his witnesses, 
not documentary, even if uncontradicted, will not afford sufficient basis for the entry of 
summary judgment, since the credibility of the testimony is still a matter for the factfinder.” 
DeArmitt v. New York Life Ins. Co., 73 A.3d 578, 595 (Pa. Super. 2013) (quoting Penn Center 
House, Inc. v. Hoffman, 553 A.2d 900, 903 (Pa. 1989) (internal quotation marks and brackets 
omitted)); see also Woodford v. Insurance Department, 243 A.3d 60, 69 (Pa. 2020) (“We 

have consistently adhered to the Nanty-Glo rule since 1932.” (internal quotation marks and 
brackets omitted)); Borough of Nanty-Glo v. American Surety Co. of New York, 163 A. 523 
(Pa. 1932) (“However clear and indisputable may be the proof when it depends on oral 
testimony, it is nevertheless the province of the jury to decide … as to the law applicable to 
the facts[.]”).  
	 As the case law concerning the Nanty-Glo rule makes clear, Pennsylvania draws a 
distinction between evidence which is documentary, on the one hand, and evidence which is 
testimonial, on the other. Penn Center House, 553 A.2d at 903. The Nanty-Glo rule, which 
only applies to testimonial evidence, is premised on two concerns, the first being “that the 
determination of whether a witness is credible is a matter properly left to the finder of fact” 
and the second a “belief in the efficacy of cross-examination as a means of attacking the 
credibility of a witness.” Woodford, 243 A.3d at 69 (quoting J. PALMER LOCKHARD, 
Summary Judgment in Pennsylvania: Time for Another Look at Credibility Issues, 35 DUQ. 
L. REV. 625, 629 (1997)).  
	 Those same concerns which animate Nanty-Glo are equally applicable to testimonial 
attachments or exhibits, including the recording at issue here. At trial, a factfinder would be free 
to believe or disbelieve any of the statements made by Hopkins during the interview. Similarly, 
future cross-examination of Hopkins or others may ultimately impact the credibility of those 
statements. Notably, Weisenbach suggests that the recording may have been spliced, and that 
roughly an hour of audio is missing, Am. Compl. ¶ 95, yet without cross-examination on this 
point, or at the very least, further discovery, the Court could effectively be granting demurrer 
based upon unreliable conflicting evidence. That is not to say the rule has no application in 
the defamation context, see Michel v. NYP Holdings, Inc., 816 F.3d 686, 704 (11th Cir. 2016) 
(averment that defendants conducted no investigation prior to reporting allegedly defamatory 
statements contradicted by article, attached as an exhibit, indicating “that the reporters spoke 
with, consulted, or otherwise reached out to a Foundation insider, event organizers, the founder 
of the Foundation, the venue, the Foundation’s website, and state charity records.”), but its 
application must be limited to exhibits or attachments which are truly documentary in nature, 
in other words, those exhibits whose meaning may “be ascertained by applying to its language 
the ordinary rules of interpretation.” Kaufmann, 70 A. at 958.16

	 Hopkins further protests that he was never put on notice that Weisenbach contended his 
claims were false, and as such, the republication of his defamatory statements cannot be 
treated as evidence of reckless disregard for the truth, relying on Weaver. Tr., pp. 151-53.  
In Weaver, our Supreme Court cited the Restatement (Second) of Torts for the proposition 
that “[r]epublication of a statement after the defendant has been notified that the plaintiff 
contends that it is false and defamatory may be treated as evidence of reckless disregard.” 
Weaver, 926 A.2d at 905 (quoting he Restatement (Second) of Torts § 580A, cmt. d (2006)) 
(emphasis added). Weaver accordingly went on to hold “that where a publisher is on notice 
that the statement may be false, republication of an alleged defamatory comment may be 
used as evidence of the defendant’s state of mind and actual malice in regard to the prior 
publication because the second publication tends to indicate a disregard for the truth that 

   15  	By definition, such a claim cannot be resolved without reference to evidence from beyond the four corners of 
the written agreement. See Voracek v. Crown Castle USA Inc., 907 A.2d 1105, 1107 (Pa. Super. 2006) (“extrinsic 
evidence is admissible for the purpose of showing that by reason of mistake, fraud or accident, the written 
instrument does not express the actual intention of the parties.”).

   16  	Moreover, even if the Court were required to consider the recording (which it has reviewed), this interview 
simply represents Hopkins’ then-explanation of the allegations. It is not extrinsic evidence that proves an absence 
of actual malice for purposes of preliminary objections.
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may have been present at the time of the initial publication.” Castellani, 124 A.3d at 1235.  
	 In Hopkins’ case, we are not faced with a publisher who proceeds to republish a story 
after being confronted with evidence undermining its veracity, but with the source for the 
story itself, who would be in a position to know whether he had reason to seriously doubt 
the veracity of his own claims from the beginning. The thrust of Weisenbach’s claim is that 
Hopkins harmed him when he participated in the initial story, although his ongoing concerted 
activity with Project Veritas and O’Keefe in republishing those claims may have further 
tarnished his reputation. But even ignoring the republication of subsequent stories and his 
involvement in those interviews, there is still sufficient evidence that Hopkins acted with 
actual malice stemming from the averments related to the first story, which suggest Hopkins 
intentionally avoided the truth in coming forward with his claims in the first place and had 
an incentivizing financial motive for doing so. Hopkins’ reliance on Weaver is therefore 
inapposite.17

	 More fundamentally, Defendants argue that where the substance of the alleged defamatory 
statements pertain to issues of self-governance and election integrity, “where First 
Amendment protection is at its zenith[,]” allowing this case to go forward would have a 
chilling effect on publishers fearing similar lawsuits. Tr., p. 46. Project Veritas and O’Keefe 
invoke the United States Supreme Court’s decision in Gertz, which began its discussion by 
observing that “[u]nder the First Amendment there is no such thing as a false idea. However 
pernicious an opinion may seem, we depend for its correction not on the conscience of judges 
and juries but on the competition of other ideas.” Gertz, 418 U.S. at 339-40. They omit the 
following, equally significant, passage located a few lines below: “The need to avoid self-
censorship by the news media is, however, not the only societal value at issue. If it were, 
this Court would have embraced long ago the view that publishers and broadcasters enjoy 
an unconditional and indefeasible immunity from liability for defamation.” Id. at 341. The 
constitutional deck is not all stacked to one side. “Some tension necessarily exists between the 
need for a vigorous and uninhibited press and the legitimate interest in redressing wrongful 
injury.” Id. at 342. In this way, New York Times and its progeny strike a careful balance 
between the standards of journalistic integrity that a pluralistic society dedicated to the free 
exchange of ideas must tolerate, and that which it need not.18 Weisenbach sufficiently avers 
that this case falls within the latter category. The difficulty may come in eventually proving 
subjective knowledge of falsity or probable falsity by clear and convincing evidence, but 
our concern on demurrer is simply whether or not they have properly pled actual malice. 
	 To be sure, even at this early stage in litigation, “courts must ensure that only truly 
meritorious defamation lawsuits are allowed to proceed, lest exposure to monetary liability 
chill the exercise of political debate that is the foundation of our constitutional republic.” 

Rogers v. Mroz, 502 P.3d 986, 989 (Ariz. 2022). But this Court must also be mindful of 
the deferential standard of review through which it must assess whether a particular claim 
appears meritorious on demurrer. Discovery has not officially begun, and the Defendants 
have yet to even file answers to the accusation lodged against them. The Court’s review of the 
Amended Complaint today is necessarily one-sided; it looks only to the narrative presented 
in the pleading, and the Court assumes, as it must, that every material fact alleged therein is 
true. There will be time to test the mettle of these claims through the presentation of evidence 
and adversarial inquiry, but that day is not today. Ever mindful of the chill that lawsuits 
such as this may have on our press freedoms, the Court nonetheless holds that Weisenbach 
has pled sufficient facts as to all three Defendants to withstand their demurrers. For now, 
“the balance between the needs of the press and the individual’s claim to compensation 
for wrongful injury” weighs in favor of the Plaintiff. Gertz, 418 U.S. at 343. Defendants’ 
demurrers to Counts I and II are consequently overruled. 

V. CONCLUSION
	 It is apparent that the parties perceive the events of the days following the 2020 presidential 
election through wildly different lenses. Today’s Opinion recounts those days through the 
eyes of Robert Weisenbach. As he sees it, Richard Hopkins was acting well outside the scope 
of his employment when he supplied false claims of mail-in ballot backdating to Project 
Veritas, and so, jurisdiction over the claims now levied against him does not lie exclusively 
in federal court pursuant to the Federal Tort Claims Act. Likewise, Weisenbach’s averments 
are legally sufficient to make out claims of defamation and concerted tortious activity against 
all Defendants, even under the demanding actual malice standard. Whether Weisenbach will 
be able to offer adequate evidence to support his claims, and whether a jury would ultimately 
be willing to credit such evidence after hearing both sides of the story, remains to be seen. 
For now, it is enough to hold that the averments set forth in the Amended Complaint are 
sufficient as a matter of law to permit the action to proceed to discovery, where the truth of 
these claims can begin to be tested in the crucible of our adversarial system.
	 Accordingly, and for the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ Preliminary Objections to 
Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint are overruled.

It is so ordered.
							       BY THE COURT:
							       /s/ Marshall J. Piccinini, Judge
 

   17  	In any event, drawing all reasonable inferences in Weisenbach’s favor, the Amended Complaint suggests that 
all Defendants would have been put on notice that the accusations were false by virtue of Weisenbach’s comment 
to Project Veritas that the allegations were untrue, presented as part of the original story. Am Compl. ¶ 48.
   18  	Some have questioned whether the New York Times standard strikes a correct balance in today’s technology-
driven world, but this criticism does not inure to the Defendants’ benefit. See Berisha, 141 S.Ct. at 2427, 2428 
(Gorsuch, J., dissenting from denial of certiorari) (“In 1964, the Court may have seen the actual malice standard as 
necessary to ensure that dissenting or critical voices are not crowded out of public debate. But if that justification 
had force in a world with comparatively few platforms for speech, it’s less obvious what force it has in a world in 
which everyone carries a soapbox in their hands … What started in 1964 with a decision to tolerate the occasional 
falsehood to ensure robust reporting by a comparative handful of print and broadcast outlets has evolved into an 
ironclad subsidy for the publication of falsehoods by means and on a scale previously unimaginable.”). 
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ACTION TO QUIET TITLE
IN THE COURT OF COMMON 

PLEAS OF ERIE COUNTY, 
PENNSYLVANIA

CIVIL ACTION-AT LAW
QUIET TITLE ACTION

DOCKET NO: 11557-2022
IN RE: CITY OF ERIE LAND 
BANK v. ROBERT R. CURRIE; 
GRANT L. LAMAYE AND LEONA 
H. LAMAYE; THE CITY OF 
ERIE; DENNIS HARVEY AND 
ANNA MARIE SAMS; MICHELE 
WIESEN; DONALD R. GINNERY, 
JR.; ERIE WATER WORKS; LUN 
E. ARRINGTON; CITIZENS BANK 
OF PA; CARL F. SMITH; ANGELO 
L. GORDON, SR. AND LILLIAN 
GORDON; HOWARD PLUNKETT; 
LAWRENCE L. BUFFALARI AND 
SANDRA BUFFALARI; AND 
DLJ MORTGAGE CAPITAL, 
INC.; their personal representatives, 
administrators, executors, heirs, 
transferees, successors and/or 
assigns, DEFENDANT(S)

NOTICE
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN to 
the above-named Defendants, their/
its heirs and/or assigns and all other 
persons having an interest in the 
hereafter described properties that on 
July 13, 2022 the City of Erie Land 
Bank instituted an action against you 
filed to No. 11557-2022 in the Court 
of Common Pleas of Erie County, 
Pennsylvania to Quiet Title to the 
following described premises:
1. 525 Wayne Street, Erie, PA 16507 
– Erie Tax Index No. (14) 1027-116
2. 440 East 9th Street, Erie, PA 16507 
– Erie Tax Index No. (15) 2021-232
3. 443 East 16th Street, Erie, PA 
16507 – Erie Tax Index No. (15) 
2025-205
4. 627 East 8th Street, Erie, PA 16507 
– Erie Tax Index No. (15) 2031-208
5. 927 West 3rd Street, Erie, PA 
16507 – Erie Tax Index No. (17) 
4030-200
6. 631 East 22nd Street, Erie, PA 
16503 – Erie Tax Index No. (18) 
5026-203
7. 859 East 21st Street, Erie, PA 
16503 – Erie Tax Index No. (18) 
5033-103
8. 1268 East 21st Street, Erie, PA 
16503 – Erie Tax Index. No. (18) 
5101-244
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9. 1743 Fairmont Parkway, Erie, PA 
16510 – Erie Tax Index No. (18) 
5119-215
10. 616 Payne Avenue, Erie, PA 
16503 – Erie Tax Index No. (14) 
1102-201
A hearing will be set at a future date 
and time during regular Motion 
Court before the Honorable Daniel 
J. Brabender, Jr.  and all defendants 
being served Notice of the date and 
time accordingly.
You are further notified to appear 
and defend the action within twenty 
(20) days from publication or 
posting hereof and that in default 
of appearance or defense, a Decree 
may be entered that Plaintiff has a 
valid and indefeasible title to said 
premises against you, and that you 
will permanently and perpetually be 
enjoined from impeaching, denying, 
attacking or in any way setting up any 
claim of title to said premises unless 
you bring an appropriate action.
You have been sued in Court. If you 
wish to defend against the claims 
set forth in the Complaint, you must 
take action within twenty (20) days 
after this Complaint Notice has been 
published or posted, by entering a 
written appearance personally or by 
attorney and filing in writing with the 
Court your defense or objections to 
the claims set forth against you. You 
are warned that if you fail to do so the 
case may proceed without you, and 
a judgment may be entered against 
you by the Court without further 
notice for any money claimed in the 
Complaint or for any other claim or 
relief request by the Plaintiff. You 
may lose money or property or other 
rights important to you.
YOU SHOULD TAKE THIS 
PAPER TO YOUR ATTORNEY AT 
ONCE. IF YOU DO NOT HAVE A 
LAWYER OR CANNOT AFFORD 
ONE, GO TO OR TELEPHONE 
THE OFFICE SET FORTH BELOW 
TO FIND OUT WHERE YOU CAN 
GET LEGAL HELP.

Lawyers Referral & 
Information Service

P.O. Box 1792
Erie, PA 16507
(814) 459-4411

Mon. - Fri. - 8:30 a.m. - 3:00 p.m.
THE CITY OF ERIE LAND BANK

Eugene C. Sundberg, Jr., Esquire
Marsh Schaaf, LLP
300 State Street, Suite 300
Erie, PA 16507
(814) 456-5301

Aug. 5

FICTITIOUS NAME NOTICE
Pursuant to Act 295 of December 16, 
1982 notice is hereby given of the 
intention to file with the Secretary of 
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
a “Certificate of Carrying On or 
Conducting Business under an 
Assumed or Fictitious Name.” Said 
Certificate contains the following 
information:

FICTITIOUS NAME NOTICE
1. The fictitious name is: Lucky 
Crane Studio
2. The principal place of business 
to be carried on under the fictitious 
name is: 2942 Poplar Street, Erie, 
PA 16508
3. The name and address of the party 
to the registration is: Mary Constance 
(Connie) Bootz, 2942 Poplar Street, 
Erie, PA 16508
4. An application for registration of 
the above fictitious name was filed 
with the Pennsylvania Department 
of State under the Fictitious Name 
Act on: June 28, 2022

Aug. 5

LEGAL NOTICE
C O U R T  O F  C O M M O N 
PLEAS – ERIE COUNTY –  
NO. 10826-2021 – CIVIL ACTION 
– MORTGAGE FORECLOSURE 
–  C O M M O N W E A L T H 
O F  P E N N S Y LVA N I A  b y 
t h e  C O M M O N W E A L T H 
F I N A N C I N G  A U T H O R I T Y, 
Plaintiff vs. GREATER ERIE 
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION, Defendants – 
NOTICE OF SHERIFF’S SALE OF 
REAL PROPERTY – To Defendant 
whose last  known address is  
5240 Knowledge Parkway, Erie, 
PA, 16510. The real estate located 
at: Erie County Tax Index Numbers  
(13) 1-12-7 and (13) 1-13-4 also 
known as 9330 Route 18, Cranesville, 
PA 16410; Erie County Tax Index 
Numbers (13) 1-12-6 also known 
as 9262 Route 18, Cranesville, 
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SHERIFF SALES
Notice is hereby given that by 
virtue of sundry Writs of Execution, 
issued out of the Courts of Common 
Pleas of Erie County, Pennsylvania, 
and to me directed, the following 
described property will be sold at 
the Erie County Courthouse, Erie, 
Pennsylvania on

AUGUST 19, 2022
AT 10 A.M.

All parties in interest and claimants 
are further notified that a schedule 
of distribution will be on file in the 
Sheriff’s Office no later than 30 days 
after the date of sale of any property 
sold hereunder, and distribution of 
the proceeds made 10 days after 
said filing, unless exceptions are 
filed with the Sheriff’s Office prior 
thereto.
All bidders are notified prior to 
bidding that they MUST possess a 
cashier’s or certified check in the 
amount of their highest bid or have 
a letter from their lending institution 
guaranteeing that funds in the 
amount of the bid are immediately 
available. If the money is not paid 
immediately after the property is 
struck off, it will be put up again 
and sold, and the purchaser held 
responsible for any loss, and in no 
case will a deed be delivered until 
money is paid.
Chris Campanelli
Sheriff of Erie County

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 1
Ex. #10732 of 2022

Northwest Bank f/k/a 
Northwest Savings Bank, Plaintiff

v.
David M. Sterling and 

Sandra R. Sterling, Defendants
DESCRIPTION

By virtue of a Writ of Execution 
filed at No. 10732-2022, Northwest 
Bank f/k/a Northwest Savings Bank 
v. David M. Sterling and Sandra R. 
Sterling, owners of property situated 
in the City of Erie, Erie County, 
Pennsylvania being commonly 
known as 4163 Davison Avenue, 
Erie, PA 16504 with 1,176 square 
footage and 0.1745 acreage.
Assessment Map No. (18) 5251-111
Assessed Value Figure: $74,114.76

Improvement thereon: 
Single family dwelling
Mark G. Claypool, Esquire
Knox McLaughlin Gornall & 
   Sennett, P.C.
120 West Tenth Street
Erie, Pennsylvania 16501
(814) 459-2800

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 2
Ex. #10561 of 2022

MARQUETTE SAVINGS 
BANK, Plaintiff

v.
CHRISTOPHER F. WILLIAMS 
and JENNIFER A. WILLIAMS, 

Defendants
DESCRIPTION

By virtue of a Writ of Execution 
filed at No. 2022-10561, Marquette 
Savings Bank vs. Christopher F. 
Williams and Jennifer A. Williams, 
owners of property situate in 
the Borough of Union City, Erie 
County, Pennsylvania being: 
32 Putnam Street, Union City, 
Pennsylvania 16438.
40 x 85	 0.0781 acres
Assessment Map Number: 
(41) 6-12-2
Assessed Value Figure: $47,110.00
Improvement Thereon: Residence
Eugene C. Sundberg, Jr., Esq.
Marsh Schaaf, LLP
300 State Street, Suite 300
Erie, Pennsylvania 16507
(814) 456-5301

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 3
Ex. #12754 of 2021

U.S. Bank Trust National 
Association, not in its individual 

capacity but solely as owner 
trustee for Legacy Mortgage 

Asset Trust 2020-GS3, Plaintiff
v.

Scott R. Cadwallader and 
Gretchen Cadwallader, 

Defendants
DESCRIPTION

By Virtue of Writ of Execution 
filed to No. 2021-12754, U.S. 
Bank Trust National Association, 
not in its individual capacity but 
solely as owner trustee for Legacy 
Mortgage Asset Trust 2020-GS3 
vs. Scott R. Cadwallader and 

Gretchen Cadwallader, owner(s) 
of property situated in Lawrence 
Park Township, Erie County, 
Pennsylvania being 4208 Iroquois 
Avenue, Erie, PA 16511
0.0886 acres
Assessment Map number: 
29-011-0400-01500
Assessed figure: $76,460.00
Improvement thereon: 
Single Family Residential Dwelling
Hladik, Onorato & Federman, LLP
289 Wissahickon Avenue
North Wales, PA 19454
(215) 855-9521

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 6
Ex. #12625 of 2021

NEWREZ LLC DBA 
SHELLPOINT MORTGAGE 

SERVICING, Plaintiff
v.

BONNIE-JO PARKER, as 
Executrix of the Estate of  
Elaina L. Kuczynski a/k/a  

Elaina Lee Kuczynski, Deceased, 
Defendant

DESCRIPTION
By virtue of a Writ of Execution filed 
to No. 12625-2021, NEWREZ LLC 
DBA SHELLPOINT MORTGAGE 
SERVICING vs. BONNIE-JO 
PARKER, as Executrix of the 
Estate of Elaina L. Kuczynski a/k/a 
Elaina Lee Kuczynski, Deceased, 
owner(s) of the property situated 
in Erie County, Pennsylvania being  
2105 FAIRMONT PARKWAY, 
ERIE, PA 16510
Assessment Map Number: 
18-051-031.0-104.00
Assessed Value Figure: $72,550.00
Improvement Thereon: 
A Residential Dwelling
KML LAW GROUP, P.C.
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
701 MARKET STREET, 
SUITE 5000
PHILADELPHIA, PA 19106
(215) 627-1322

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 7
Ex. #10612 of 2022

M&T BANK, Plaintiff
v.

JEREMY LOGSDON, Defendant
DESCRIPTION
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Pennsylvania 16410; Erie County 
Tax Index Numbers (13) 1-13-3 
and (13) 1-12-6.01 also known as  
9196 Route 18, Cranesville, PA 
16410; and Erie County Tax Index 
Number (13) 1-12-5 also known 
as 9170 Route 18, Cranesville, 
PA 16410 are scheduled to be 
sold at Sheriff’s Sale on Friday,  
August 19, 2022 at 10:00 AM 
in Central Court, Erie County 
Courthouse, 140 West Sixth Street, 
Erie, PA 16501-1077 to enforce the 

Whether you practice, support, create, or enforce the law, Thomson Reuters delivers 
best-of-class legal solutions that help you work smarter, like Westlaw, FindLaw, Elite, 
Practical Law, and secure cloud-based practice management software Firm Central™.  
Intelligently connect your work and your world through unrivaled content, expertise, 
and technologies. See a better way forward  at https://legalsolutions.thomsonreuters.

com/law-products/practice/small-law-firm/

Business Partner

court judgment of $1,126,508.00 
obtained by the COMMONWEALTH 
FINANCING AUTHORITY against 
you. You are further notified that a 
schedule of proposed distribution of 
the proceeds of the above sale will be 
filed by the Sheriff of Erie County, 
Pennsylvania, on a date specified by 
the Sheriff not later than thirty days 
after sale, and that distribution of said 
proceeds will be made in accordance 
with said Schedule of Distribution 
unless exceptions are filed thereto 

within ten days after the filing of 
the schedule. 
Plaintiff’s Attorney:
Justin A. Zimmerman
Department of Community & 
   Economic Development
400 North Street, Fourth Floor
Harrisburg, PA 17120-0225
(717) 720-7330
juzimmerma@pa.gov  

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12
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By virtue of a Writ of Execution 
filed to No. 10612-22, M&T 
BANK vs. JEREMY LOGSDON, 
owner(s) of the property situated 
in Erie County, Pennsylvania being  
68 SOUTH STREET, UNION 
CITY, PA 16438
Assessment Map Number: 
42009030001000
Assessed Value Figure: $87,440.00
Improvement Thereon: 
A Residential Dwelling
KML LAW GROUP, P.C.
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
701 MARKET STREET, 
SUITE 5000
PHILADELPHIA, PA 19106
(215) 627-1322

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 8
Ex. #10676 of 2022

MIDFIRST BANK, Plaintiff
v.

SHAWN P. MILLER, Defendant
DESCRIPTION

By virtue of a Writ of Execution filed 
to No. 2022-10676, MIDFIRST 
BANK vs. SHAWN P. MILLER, 
owner(s) of the property situated 
in Erie County, Pennsylvania being 
2709 RASPBERRY STREET, 
ERIE, PA 16508
Assessment Map Number: 
19-060-037.0-222.00
Assessed Value Figure: $76,900.00
Improvement Thereon: 
A Residential Dwelling
KML LAW GROUP, P.C.
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
701 MARKET STREET, 
SUITE 5000
PHILADELPHIA, PA 19106
(215) 627-1322

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 9
Ex. #10635 of 2022

M&T BANK, Plaintiff
v.

CHRISTINA L. PAUL, 
Defendant

DESCRIPTION
By virtue of a Writ of Execution 
filed to No. 2022-10635, M&T 
BANK vs. CHRISTINA L. PAUL, 
owner(s) of the property situated 
in Erie County, Pennsylvania being 
714 PARK AVENUE NORTH, 

ERIE, PA 16502
Assessment Map Number: 
17040023011700
Assessed Value Figure: $51,800.00
Improvement Thereon: 
A Residential Dwelling
KML LAW GROUP, P.C.
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
701 MARKET STREET, 
SUITE 5000
PHILADELPHIA, PA 19106
(215) 627-1322

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 10
Ex. #10463 of 2022

MidFirst Bank, Plaintiff
v.

Robert C. Blankenship, 
Defendant

DESCRIPTION
By virtue of a Writ of Execution 
file to No. 2022-10463, MidFirst 
Bank vs. Robert C. Blankenship, 
owner(s) of property situated 
in the Township of Millcreek, 
Erie County, Pennsylvania being  
2441 Norcross Road, Erie, PA 
16510
78.4 x 495.24
Assessment Map Number: 33-110
Assessed Value figure: $106,900.00
Improvement thereon: 
Single Family Dwelling
Kimberly J. Hong, Esquire
Manley Deas Kochalski LLC
P.O. Box 165028
Columbus,OH 43216-5028
614-220-5611

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 11
Ex. #10539 of 2022

Deutsche Bank National 
Trust Company, as Trustee 
for Soundview Home Loan 

Trust 2006-WF2, Asset-Backed 
Certificates, Series 2006-WF2, 

Plaintiff
v.

 John C. Emhoff, Defendant
DESCRIPTION

By virtue of a Writ of Execution 
file to No. 2022-10539, Deutsche 
Bank National Trust Company, as 
Trustee for Soundview Home Loan 
Trust 2006-WF2, Asset-Backed 
Certificates, Series 2006-WF2 
vs. John C. Emhoff, owner(s) of 

property situated in the City of Erie, 
Erie County, Pennsylvania being 
2033 West 37th Street, Erie, PA 
16508-2017
60 x 100
Assessment Map Number: 19-6161
Assessed Value figure: $113,700.00
Improvement thereon: 
Single Family Dwelling
Kimberly J. Hong, Esquire
Manley Deas Kochalski LLC
P.O. Box 165028
Columbus,OH 43216-5028
614-220-5611

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 13
Ex. #10221 of 2021
U.S. Bank, National Association, 

Plaintiff
v.

Estate of Wayne D. Corum, 
deceased, Defendant

DESCRIPTION
By virtue of a Writ of Execution 
filed to No. 10221-2021, U.S. Bank, 
National Association vs. Estate 
of Wayne D. Corum, deceased, 
owner(s) of property situated in 
the City of Erie, Erie County, 
Pennsylvania being 2114 Jackson 
Place, Erie, PA 16510-1930
27.22 x 111.05
Single Family
Assessment Map number:
50003030000500
Assessed Value figure: $61,500.00
Improvement thereon: Residential 
Single Dwelling
Stern & Eisenberg, P.C.
Jessica N. Manis, Esquire
1581 Main Street, Suite 200
Warrington, PA 18976

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 14
Ex. #10335 of 2021

The Bank of New York Mellon, 
et. al., Plaintiff

v.
 Dennis Vera, et. al., Defendant

DESCRIPTION
By virtue of a Writ of Execution 
filed to No. 2021-10335, The Bank 
of New York Mellon, et. al. vs. 
Dennis Vera, et. al.
Melquiades Vera, deceased, 
owner(s) of property situated in the 
Borough of North East, Erie County, 
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Pennsylvania being 41 Grahamville 
Street, North East, PA 16428
175 x 175
Single Family
Assessment Map number: 
36-009-059.0-011.00
Assessed Value figure: $75,870.00
Improvement thereon: Residential 
Single Dwelling
Stern & Eisenberg, P.C.
Andrew J. Marley, Esquire
1581 Main Street, Suite 200
Warrington, PA 18976

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

SALE NO. 15
Ex. #10711 of 2020

Pennsylvania Housing Finance 
Agency, Plaintiff

v.
 Terry L. Williamson and 

Sharon E. Williamson, 
Defendants

DESCRIPTION
By virtue of a Writ of Execution 
filed to No. 10711-20, Pennsylvania 
Housing Finance Agency vs. Terry 
L. Williamson and Sharon E. 
Williamson, owners of property 
situated in the City of Erie, Erie 
County, Pennsylvania being:  
10 Summit Street, Erie, PA 16508
Dimensions: Square Feet: 1,510 
Acreage: 0.0964
Assessment Map Number: 
(19)-06-53-224
Assess Value figure: $67,620.00
Improvement thereon: single family 
dwelling
Lois M. Vitti, Esquire
Attorney for Plaintiff
663 Fifth Street
Oakmont, PA 15139
(412) 281-1725

July 29 and Aug. 5, 12

Business Partner
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ESTATE  NOTICES
Notice is hereby given that in the 
estates of the decedents set forth 
below the Register of Wills has 
granted letters, testamentary or of 
administration, to the persons named.  
All persons having claims or demands 
against said estates are requested to 
make known the same and all persons 
indebted to said estates are requested 
to make payment without delay 
to the executors or their attorneys 
named below.

FIRST PUBLICATION

BALLMAN, RICKI EUGENE, 
a/k/a RICKI BALLMAN,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of  Erie,  Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Administratrix:  Deborah S. 
Ballman, 1013 East 29th St., Erie, 
PA 16504
Attorney: None

FLOROS, JAMES JEFFREY, 
a/k/a JAMES J. FLOROS, a/k/a 
JAMES FLOROS,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of  Erie,  Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Administrator: Gerald G. Floros, 
c/o Quinn, Buseck, Leemhuis, 
Toohey & Kroto, Inc., 2222 West 
Grandview Blvd., Erie, PA 16506
Attorney: Melissa L. Larese, 
Esq., Quinn, Buseck, Leemhuis, 
Toohey & Kroto, Inc., 2222 West 
Grandview Blvd., Erie, PA 16506 

HEUBEL, STEPHEN R.,
deceased

Late of Erie County, Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania
Administratrix:  Madelyn K. 
Heubel, c/o Denise C. Pekelnicky, 
Esq., 36 West Main St., North East, 
PA 16428
Attorney: Denise C. Pekelnicky, 
Esq., DCP Law Office, LLC,  
36 West Main St., North East, 
PA 16428

LEE, ROSELLA A.,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of  Erie,  Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executr ix:  Pa t r ic ia  Mol ly, 
c/o Joseph B. Spero, Esquire, 
3213 West 26th Street, Erie, 
Pennsylvania 16506
Attorney:  Joseph B. Spero, 
Esquire, 3213 West 26th Street, 
Erie, Pennsylvania 16506

OSTERGAARD, 
JACQUELINE M., a/k/a 
JACQUELINE OSTERGAARD,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executor: Niels C. Ostergaard,  
40 N 250 E, Columbus, IN 47201-
9600
Attorneys: MacDonald, Illig, Jones 
& Britton LLP, 100 State Street, 
Suite 700, Erie, Pennsylvania 
16507-1459

SWABB, MARTIN RICHARD, 
deceased

Late of the Township of Millcreek, 
County of Erie, Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Execu tor :  James  Po lancy,  
c/o Quinn, Buseck, Leemhuis, 
Toohey & Kroto, Inc., 2222 West 
Grandview Blvd., Erie, PA 16506
Attorney: Colleen R. Stumpf, 
Esq., Quinn, Buseck, Leemhuis, 
Toohey & Kroto, Inc., 2222 West 
Grandview Blvd., Erie, PA 16506

SZOCKI, PATRICIA LOUISE, 
a/k/a PATRICIA L. SZOCKI, a/k/a 
PATRICIA SZOCKI,
deceased

Late of Millcreek Township, 
County of Erie and Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania
Administratrix:  Jennifer M. 
Lassoff, c/o 3952 Avonia Road,  
P.O. Box 9, Fairview, PA 16415
Attorney: Alan Natalie, Esquire, 
3952 Avonia Road, P.O. Box 9, 
Fairview, PA 16415

WEST, JAMES RICHARD, a/k/a 
JAMES R. WEST, a/k/a 
JAMES WEST,
deceased

Late of Wesleyville Boro, County 
of Erie and State of Pennsylvania
Administratrix: Elizabeth A. Geer, 
c/o 4030 West Lake Road, Erie, 
PA 16505
Attorney: Ronald J. Susmarski, 
Esq., 4030 West Lake Road, Erie, 
PA 16505

WOODEL, PATRICIA MAE, 
a/k/a PATRICIA M. WOODEL,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of  Erie,  Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Administratrix: Tammy Cote, 
c/o Quinn, Buseck, Leemhuis, 
Toohey & Kroto, Inc., 2222 West 
Grandview Blvd., Erie, PA 16506
Attorney: Melissa L. Larese, 
Esq., Quinn, Buseck, Leemhuis, 
Toohey & Kroto, Inc., 2222 West 
Grandview Blvd., Erie, PA 16506

SECOND PUBLICATION

BARTON, MARIAN A.,
deceased

Late of the City of Corry, County 
of Erie, Pennsylvania
Executrix: Lisa L. Masi, PNC 
Bank, NA, by Lisa L. Masi, 
Estate  Set t lement  Advisor,  
c/o Paul J. Carney, Jr., Esq.,  
224 Maple Avenue, Corry, PA 
16407
Attorney: Paul J. Carney, Jr., 
Esq., 224 Maple Avenue, Corry, 
PA 16407

ESSER, DAVID EUGENE, a/k/a 
DAVID E. ESSER, 
deceased

Late of Waterford Township, 
County of Erie and Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania
Administratrix:  Jennifer L. 
Esser, c/o 3952 Avonia Road,  
P.O. Box 9, Fairview, PA 16415
Attorney: Alan Natalie, Esquire, 
3952 Avonia Road, P.O. Box 9, 
Fairview, PA 16415

GORKA, JOHN F., a/k/a 
JOHN GORKA,
deceased

Late of Millcreek Township, 
County of Erie and Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania
E x e c u t o r :  M i c h a e l  J o h n 
Gorka, c/o 3952 Avonia Road,  
P.O. Box 9, Fairview, PA 16415
Attorney: Alan Natalie, Esquire, 
3952 Avonia Road, P.O. Box 9, 
Fairview, PA 16415

KIBLER, CHARLES H., a/k/a 
CHARLES HOWARD KIBLER,
deceased

Late of Girard Township, Erie 
County,  Commonweal th  of 
Pennsylvania
Co-executors: William C. Kibler 
and Bonita L. Hume, c/o Jeffrey 
D. Scibetta, Esq., 120 West Tenth 
Street, Erie, PA 16501
Attorney: Jeffrey D. Scibetta, 
Esq., Knox McLaughlin Gornall 
& Sennett, P.C., 120 West Tenth 
Street, Erie, PA 16501

McCARTHY, BRIAN EARLE, 
a/k/a BRIAN E. McCARTHY, 
deceased

Late of Edinboro, Erie County, 
Pennsylvania
Personal Representative: Shanon 
Swavey, 16932 S. Norrisville 
Road, Conneautville, PA 16406
Attorney: M. Dan Mason, Esquire, 
973 Liberty Street, Meadville, 
PA 16335

REKITT, PHILLIP E.,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, Erie 
County, Pennsylvania
Executor :  Rhea  J .  Reki t t ,  
c/o Martone & Peasley, 150 West 
Fifth Street, Erie, Pennsylvania 
16507
Attorney: Joseph P. Martone, 
Esquire, Martone & Peasley, 
150 West Fifth Street, Erie, 
Pennsylvania 16507

RIST, DONALD, a/k/a 
DONALD B. RIST,
deceased

Late of Albion Boro, Erie County, 
PA
Administratrix: Sheila Rist
Attorney: Joseph J. Ferguson, 
Esq., Cressman Erde Ferguson, 
LLC, 300 Arch Street, Meadville, 
PA 16335

RIZZO, JOAN MARIE,
deceased

Late of North East Borough, Erie 
County, PA
Executrix:  Sheila K. Rizzo,  
c/o 33 East Main Street, North 
East, Pennsylvania 16428
Attorney: Robert J. Jeffery, Esq., 
Knox McLaughlin Gornall & 
Sennett, P.C., 33 East Main Street, 
North East, Pennsylvania 16428

SAUER, SEAMUS P., 
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Administratrix: Carol Stinson,  
c/o Norman A. Stark, Esq.,  
Suite 300, 300 State Street, Erie, 
PA 16507
Attorney:  Norman A. Stark, 
Esq., MARSH SCHAAF, LLP,  
Suite 300, 300 State Street, Erie, 
PA 16507

SHELDRAKE, CLAIR L., a/k/a 
CLAIR LEE SHELDRAKE, a/k/a 
C. LEE SHELDRAKE, a/k/a 
LEE SHELDRAKE,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Administratrix: Holly D. Borland, 
c/o Kurt L. Sundberg, Esq.,  
Suite 300, 300 State Street, Erie, 
PA 16507
Attorney: Kurt L. Sundberg, 
Esq., MARSH SCHAAF, LLP,  
Suite 300, 300 State Street, Erie, 
PA 16507

SITTER, JoELLEN I., a/k/a 
JoELLEN IRENE SITTER, a/k/a 
JoELLEN SITTER,
deceased

Late of the Township of Millcreek, 
County of Erie, Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Execu tor :  Gary  R .  S i t t e r,  
3057 West 24th Street, Erie, PA 
16506
Attorney: Grant M. Yochim, Esq., 
24 Main St. E., P.O. Box 87, 
Girard, PA 16417

THIEME, ALBERT L., SR.,
deceased

Late of the Township of Wayne, 
County of Erie, Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania
Executrix: Deborah E. Plummer, 
c/o Joan M. Fairchild, Esq., 
132 North Center Street, Corry, 
Pennsylvania 16407
Attorney: Joan M. Fairchild, Esq., 
132 North Center Street, Corry, 
Pennsylvania 16407

WILSON, CLARE L.,
deceased

Late of North East Township, Erie 
County, PA
Executrix: Susan M. Wilson,  
c/o 33 East Main Street, North 
East, Pennsylvania 16428
Attorney: Robert J. Jeffery, Esq., 
Knox McLaughlin Gornall & 
Sennett, P.C., 33 East Main Street, 
North East, Pennsylvania 16428

THIRD PUBLICATION

ARMSTRONG, JOSEPH E., a/k/a 
JOSEPH EUGENE
ARMSTRONG, a/k/a 
JOSEPH ARMSTRONG,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executrix: Jenna Karmazin
Attorney: James H. Richardson, 
Esquire, ELDERKIN LAW FIRM, 
456 West 6th Street, Erie, PA 
16507
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BRONAKOSKI, JANICE EILEEN, 
a/k/a JANICE E. BRONAKOSKI, 
a/k/a JANICE BRONAKOSKI,
deceased

Late of Platea Boro, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executrix: Cheryl L. Ferry,  
c / o  3 9 5 2  Av o n i a  R o a d ,  
P.O. Box 9, Fairview, PA 16415
Attorney: Alan Natalie, Esquire, 
3952 Avonia Road, P.O. Box 9, 
Fairview, PA 16415 

EDWARDS, CONSTANCE L.,
deceased

Late of the Township of Millcreek, 
Erie County, Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Co-executors :  Deborah  E . 
Edwards Veihdeffer and Douglas 
E. Edwards, c/o 120 W. 10th St., 
Erie, PA 16501
Attorney: Christine Hall McClure, 
Esq., Knox McLaughlin Gornall & 
Sennett, P.C., 120 West 10th Street, 
Erie, PA 16501

EMELIANOW, WALENTYNA, 
a/k/a VALENTINA EMELIANOW,
deceased

Late of Millcreek Township, 
County of Erie and Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania
Executrix: Helena Tkatschow,  
c / o  3 9 5 2  Av o n i a  R o a d ,  
P.O. Box 9, Fairview, PA 16415
Attorney: Alan Natalie, Esquire, 
3952 Avonia Road, P.O. Box 9, 
Fairview, PA 16415

FARBO, CYNTHIA L., a/k/a
CYNTHIA FARBO, a/k/a 
CINDI L. FARBO, a/k/a 
CINDI FARBO,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Adminis tratr ix:  Jess ica M. 
Farbo, c/o 3952 Avonia Road,  
P.O. Box 9, Fairview, PA 16415
Attorney: Alan Natalie, Esquire, 
3952 Avonia Road, P.O. Box 9, 
Fairview, PA 16415

FISH, KLENO F., a/k/a 
KLENO F. FISH, JR., a/k/a 
KLENO FISH,
deceased

Late of the Borough of Lake City, 
County of Erie, Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executrix: Kathleen M. Hnath, 
11320 Route 6N, Albion, PA 16401
Attorney: Valerie H. Kuntz, Esq., 
24 Main St. E., P.O. Box 87, 
Girard, PA 16417

GRAY, WALTER,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, Erie 
County, Pennsylvania
E x e c u t r i x :  D o r e t h a  G r a y,  
c/o Martone & Peasley, 150 West 
Fifth Street, Erie, Pennsylvania 
16507
Attorney: Joseph P. Martone, 
Esquire, Martone & Peasley, 
150 West Fifth Street, Erie, 
Pennsylvania 16507

GUNTHER, DONNA JEAN,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executrix: Katherine A. Gunther
Attorney:  David J.  Rhodes, 
Esquire, ELDERKIN LAW FIRM, 
456 West 6th Street, Erie, PA 
16507

HUBER, JAMES M., a/k/a 
JAMES MATHEW HUBER,
deceased

Late of North East Borough, Erie 
County, PA
Administratrix: Nicole M. Frye, 
c/o Danielle M. Yacono, Esq., 
375 Morris Rd., P.O. Box 1479, 
Lansdale, PA 19446-0773
Attorney: Danielle M. Yacono, 
Esq., Hamburg, Rubin, Mullin, 
Maxwell & Lupin, PC, 375 Morris 
Rd., P.O. Box 1479, Lansdale, PA 
19446-0773

HUNTER, ALBERT E.,
deceased

Late of the Borough of Mill Village, 
County of Erie, Pennsylvania
Executor: Todd G. Hunter,  
c/o Paul J. Carney, Jr., Esq.,  
224 Maple Avenue, Corry, PA 
16407
Attorney: Paul J. Carney, Jr., 
Esq., 224 Maple Avenue, Corry, 
PA 16407

LOCKE, CHARLES HENRY,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Co-executors: Lisa A. Locke and 
Larry M. Locke
Attorney:  David J.  Rhodes, 
Esquire, ELDERKIN LAW FIRM, 
456 West 6th Street, Erie, PA 
16507

PAKIELA, JOHN LEO, a/k/a
JOHN L. PAKIELA, a/k/a 
JOHN PAKIELA, a/k/a 
JACK L. PAKIELA, a/k/a 
JACK PAKIELA,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executrix: Theresa E. McCarthy, 
c / o  3 9 5 2  Av o n i a  R o a d ,  
P.O. Box 9, Fairview, PA 16415
Attorney: Alan Natalie, Esquire, 
3952 Avonia Road, P.O. Box 9, 
Fairview, PA 16415

REDINGER, PATRICIA ANNE,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of  Erie,  Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Co-administratrices: Jamie 
Shatto, c/o 100 State Street,  
Suite 700, Erie, PA 16507-
1459 and Jesica Shatto-Landis,  
c/o 100 State Street, Suite 700, 
Erie, PA 16507-1459
Attorneys: MacDonald, Illig, Jones 
& Britton LLP, 100 State Street, 
Suite 700, Erie, Pennsylvania 
16507-1459

RITENOUR, KARA LYNN, a/k/a 
KARA L. RITENOUR, a/k/a 
KARA RITENOUR,
deceased

Late of the Township of Millcreek, 
County of Erie and Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania
Administratrix: Marie T. Myers, 
c/o Thomas V. Myers, Esq.,  
Suite 300, 300 State Street, Erie, 
PA 16507
Attorney: Thomas V. Myers, Esq., 
MARSH SCHAAF, LLP, Suite 
300, 300 State Street, Erie, PA 
16507

TOWSEY, ROBERT B., a/k/a 
ROBERT BRIAN TOWSEY, a/k/a 
ROBERT TOWSEY,
deceased

Late of North East Township, 
County of Erie, Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania
Executrix: Kathe Elaine Towsey, 
12270 Mallick Rd., North East, 
PA 16428
Attorney: None

TYZINSKI, AGATHA,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executor: Timothy Tyzinski
Attorney:  David J.  Rhodes, 
Esquire, ELDERKIN LAW FIRM, 
456 West 6th Street, Erie, PA 
16507

DONATE AT: https://www.eriegives.org/

 

 

 

 

ESTABLISHED 1989

EDUCATION * JUSTICE * SERVICE
429 West 6th St. | Erie, PA  16507

Erie County
Law Foundation

Attorneys and Kids Together:
Started in 2000, the 
Attorneys and Kids 
Together's (AKT)  mission 
is to support the educational 
needs of Erie County 
students living in homeless 
situations. As the Erie 
County Law Foundation's 
signature community 
service project, support 
over the last six years enabled the ECLF to 
provide:  225 winter coats; 646 school uniforms; 
643 school backpacks; and 51 high school senior 
year packages (cap & gown, SAT fees, etc.), as 
well as mentoring for 119 children through Kid 
Konnection, a short term mentoring program with 
the goal of providing students with positive role 
models while engaging in educational and fun 
activities!  

Roberts Scholarship:
I am honored to be a part of the Justice Roberts schol-
arship program, both as a past recipient and now as a 
member of the selection committee.  The scholarship not 
only helps ease the burden of law school costs, but also 
keeps students connected to Erie through support from 
their hometown legal community.  Top-notch program!

~ Atty. William Speros

The Chief Justice Samuel J. Roberts Scholarship Fund 
was established to provide financial assistance to law 
school students from Erie County, Pennsylvania, enrolled 
in accredited Law Schools.  Starting in their first year 
of law school and provided that the student maintains 
a satisfactory academic record, the scholarship may be 
renewed for the student's second and third years.  Roberts 
Scholarship recipients are chosen based on established 
criteria, focusing primarily on financial need, academic 
achievement, and the applicant's career statement. 

For additional information:
Contact Julie Kresge, CFRE, 
ECBA Executive Director,

 at 814-459-3111 or jskresge@eriebar.com.

Erie Gives Day
Please consider a donation to Attorneys and Kids Together and/or the Chief Justice Samuel J. 
Roberts Scholarship Fund, programs of the Erie County Law Foundation, during Erie Gives Day 
and a percentage of your donation will be matched by the Erie Community Foundation!

By Check:  August 8
•	 Checks must be made payable to the Erie Com-

munity Foundation and include a completed 
check contribution form (enclosed)

•	 Write in our Erie Gives Nonprofit Name of          
'Attorneys and Kids Together' which will be used 
for both AKT and Roberts Scholarship donations

•	 Donating by check is a great alternative for larger 
donations from an IRA Required Minimum Distri-
bution (RMD)

•	 When we receive the your Erie Gives Day           
donation we will confirm which program it will 
go towards

By Credit Card Online:  August 9
•	 From 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. 
•	 Visit www.eriegives.org
•	 Look for our Erie Gives Nonprofit Name of     

'Attorneys and Kids Together' which will be used 
for both AKT and Roberts Scholarship donations

•	 Select a donation amount - the minimum gift 
is $25

•	 Pay by Visa, MasterCard or Discover
•	 When we receive the your Erie Gives Day       

donation we will confirm which program it will 
go towards
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WALCZAK, ROBERT J.,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of  Erie,  Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executor: James R. Walczak,  
c/o 100 State Street, Suite 700, 
Erie, PA 16507-1459
Attorneys: MacDonald, Illig, Jones 
& Britton LLP, 100 State Street, 
Suite 700, Erie, Pennsylvania 
16507-1459

WILKOSZ, FRANK C.,
deceased

Late of the Township of McKean, 
County of Erie, Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executor: Mark F. Wilkosz,  
c/o Blakely & Blakely, LLC,  
2701 Evanston Avenue, Suite 100, 
Erie, PA 16506-3171
Attorney: Richard A. Blakely, 
Esq., Blakely & Blakely, LLC, 
2701 Evanston Avenue, Suite 100, 
Erie, PA 16506-3171
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Business Partner Weekly 
Wrap-up

August 5, 2022

States continue crack down on nondisclosure agreements - Disfavour toward employer/
employee nondisclosure agreements (NDAs) has been an increasingly popular sentiment 
expressed by state legislatures over the last few years, and 2022 has seen the trend continue. 
Legislation in some states may void and make unenforceable certain employer/employee 
nondisclosure agreements; it may prohibit employers from requiring employees to enter 
into such agreements; or it may outright prohibit employers from executing the agreements, 
for example in employment contracts and separation agreements. Just over halfway 
through 2022, Hawaii, Maine, Oregon, and Washington have issued or amended state laws 
voiding, prohibiting, or restricting employer/employee nondisclosure agreements. Read 
more ... https://www.natlawreview.com/article/states-continue-crack-down-nondisclosure-
agreements and https://www.natlawreview.com/article/crosshairs-labor-board-targets-gig-
economy-noncompete-agreements-and-more

5th Circuit judge argues for a cost-benefit exception to the exclusionary rule - A federal 
appeals judge has written a concurrence to her majority opinion to suggest that courts use 
a cost-benefit analysis in some cases when defendants seek to suppress statements made to 
police without a Miranda warning. The 5th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals at New Orleans 
ruled 2-1 on July 18 in the case of Braylon Ray Coulter, who was seeking to suppress the 
statements that he made to a Lancaster, Texas, police officer about a gun in his backpack 
in the van that he had been driving. Coulter was handcuffed when he made the statements 
after the officer pulled him over. Read more ... https://www.abajournal.com/web/article/5th-
circuit-judge-argues-for-a-cost-benefit-exception-to-the-exclusionary-rule

On the radar - Peloton Interactive, the at-home fitness equipment and interactive media 
brand, was slapped with a copyright infringement lawsuit in California Central District 
Court. The lawsuit was brought by CSReeder P.C. on behalf of music producer Muggerud’s 
publishing company Soul Assassins, which accuses Peloton of using its musical compositions 
to accompany workout programs without permission. Counsel have not yet appeared for 
the defendant. The case is 2:22-cv-05134, Soul Assassins Inc v. Peloton Interactive Inc.

Driving on - Kemper Corporation, an insurance firm, and Infinity Insurance were hit with 
a class action in California Central District Court. The complaint accuses the defendants of 
receiving a “windfall” during the COVID-19 pandemic because individuals substantially reduced 
their driving while still paying insurance premiums. The plaintiffs contend that although the 
defendants implemented a refund program, it was not enough to offset the unjust enrichment to 
the defendants. The action was filed by Martin & Bontrager and other law firms. Counsel have not 
yet appeared for the defendants. The case is 2:22-cv-05171, Torrez v. Infinity Insurance Co. et al.
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